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The Chubb Organization

I
n the spring of 1882, Thomas Caldecot Chubb

and his son Percy opened a marine underwriting

business in the seaport district of New York City.

Having collected $1,000 from each of 100 prominent

merchants to start their venture, they began to insure

ships and cargoes. The Chubbs were adept at turning

risk into success, often by helping policyholders

prevent disasters before they occurred. By the turn of the century, Chubb had

established strong relationships with the insurance agents and brokers who

placed their clients' business with Chubb underwriters, and the original

subscribers enjoyed a substantial return on their investment in the young

company.

Chubb & Son has never valued size in itself but regards size as a measure

of what has been achieved. Upon the company's 75th anniversary in 1957,

Hendon Chubb Ì who had joined his older brother Percy in the Ñrm in

1895 Ì noted, ""I think there is perhaps a tendency in American business to

over-emphasize mere size, whereas to me it should be a by-product of a job

well done.''

""Never compromise with integrity,'' also a Hendon Chubb principle, captures

the spirit of our companies. Each member of the Chubb organization seeks to

stand apart in bringing quality, fairness and integrity to each transaction, for

the beneÑt of all involved.

The Chubb Corporation was formed in 1967 and was listed on the New York

Stock Exchange in 1984. Today, Chubb stands among the largest insurers in

the United States and the world. Chubb's 10,000 employees serve customers

from more than 110 oÇces throughout North America, Europe, South

America and the PaciÑc Rim.

No matter how wide the inÖuence of the Ñrm, we at Chubb still measure

success by a job well done. The principles of Ñnancial stability and excellent

service combined with the high caliber of our employees are the mainstays of

our corporation.



The Chubb Corporation

JOHN C. BECK THOMAS C. MACAVOYDirectors
Senior Member Professor
Beck, Mack & Oliver LLC University of Virginia

Former Vice Chairman
SHEILA P. BURKE Corning, Inc.
Executive Dean
John F. Kennedy School of Government, G.G. MICHELSON

Harvard University Former Senior Advisor
R.H. Macy & Co., Inc.

JAMES I. CASH, JR.
Professor DEAN R. O'HARE

Harvard Graduate School of Chairman and Chief Executive OÇcer
Business Administration of the Corporation

PERCY CHUBB, III WARREN B. RUDMAN

Former Vice Chairman of the Corporation Partner
Paul, Weiss, Rifkind, Wharton & Garrison

JOEL J. COHEN

Managing Director SIR DAVID G. SCHOLEY, CBE
Donaldson, Lufkin & Jenrette Securities Corp. Chairman, International Advisory Council

Swiss Bank Corporation
DAVID H. HOAG

Chairman and RAYMOND G.H. SEITZ

Chief Executive OÇcer Vice Chairman
The LTV Corporation Lehman Bros. International (Europe)

Former Ambassador of
ROBERT V. LINDSAY The United States of America
Former President
J.P. Morgan & Co. Incorporated LAWRENCE M. SMALL

and Morgan Guaranty Trust President and Chief Operating OÇcer
Company of New York Federal National Mortgage Association

RICHARD D. WOOD

Former Chairman of the Board
Eli Lilly and Company

All of the above directors are also directors of Federal Insurance Company and Vigilant Insurance
Company. Certain are also directors of other subsidiaries of the Corporation.

Chairman and Chief Executive OÇcer Vice PresidentsOÇcers
DEAN R. O'HARE WILMA J. DAVIS

FRANCIS E. DOYLE

President BRANT W. FREE, JR.
JOHN J. DEGNAN FREDERICK W. GAETNER

NED I. GERSTMAN

Executive Vice Presidents ROBERT A. MARZOCCHI

ROBERT P. CRAWFORD, JR. GLENN A. MONTGOMERY

DAVID B. KELSO MARJORIE D. RAINES

DONN H. NORTON RICHARD V. WERNER

THERESA M. STONE

Vice President and Counsel
Senior Vice Presidents MICHAEL J. O'NEILL, JR.
DANIEL J. CONWAY

GAIL E. DEVLIN Vice President and Associate Counsel
EDWARD DUNLOP JOHN E. WISINGER

DAVID S. FOWLER

BRIAN W. NOCCO Vice President and Secretary
MICHAEL O'REILLY HENRY G. GULICK

HENRY B. SCHRAM

Vice President and Treasurer
Senior Vice President and General Counsel PHILIP J. SEMPIER

ROBERT RUSIS



To Our Shareholders:

Dean R. O'Hare

Chairman and Chief Executive OÇcer

I am pleased to report to you on a year of signiÑcant accomplishment for The

Chubb Corporation. We recorded strong operating results. We completed a

major review of our corporate strategy and capital deployment, as a result of

which we clariÑed our strategic direction for the future and acted decisively to

enhance the value of your investment in both the near and longer term. Late

in the year, the largest claim in our history was resolved when the trilateral

agreement reached in 1993 in the Fibreboard case received Ñnal court

approval.

In 1996, Chubb produced operating earnings of $635 million, including the

$41 million of operating earnings from our discontinued life insurance

business, but before a charge of $160 million related to the write-down of

certain real estate assets. Excluding the results of the life operations and

including the real estate charge, reported operating earnings were $434 million.

In our property and casualty business, we produced a combined ratio of 98.3%

and an underwriting proÑt of $17 million. We fell short of our record 1995

underwriting performance because of substantially higher losses from catastro-

phes, which added 3.1 points to our combined ratio in 1996. Excluding these

CAT-related losses, our combined ratio was 95.2%, a superb achievement by

the best underwriting organization in the industry. Our performance in 1996

once again demonstrates our ability to meet the challenge of increased

competition in the marketplace and to Ñnd new ways to serve our customers

better and increase our eÇciency.

In light of these results, the Board of Directors at its meeting today voted to

raise the regular quarterly dividend to $0.29 per share from $0.27 per share,

an increase of 7.4%.

During the year, we undertook a rigorous review of our corporate strategy

and long-term direction. In the past, such strategic analyses have led to the

decisions to emphasize specialty products over more standard commercial lines

of coverage, to develop Masterpiece for the top tier of the personal lines

market, and most recently, to implement a program of aggressive global

expansion. This year, we reexamined in particular our strategy of providing an

array of Ñnancial products and services to the Chubb franchise customer

through our core property and casualty insurance distribution network.

We determined that the strategy is fundamentally sound and that, as we have

predicted for many years, the barriers separating the various sectors of the

Ñnancial services industry Ì banking, investment banking, insurance and

money management Ì are indeed blurring in many cases and disappearing

entirely in others. We also concluded, however, that the consolidation now
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Two Year Financial Highlights

(in thousands except for per share amounts)

For the year 1996 1995

Revenues $5,680,532 $5,211,496

Net Income 512,684 696,628

Net Income Per Share $2.90 $3.93

Dividends Declared Per Share 1.08 .98

At year end

Assets $19,938,866 $19,636,277

Shareholders' Equity 5,462,874 5,262,729

Shareholders' Equity Per Share $31.24 $30.14

taking place in the life insurance sector, among others, is resulting in an

industry dominated by highly eÇcient giants. Building our own life insurance

business from its current mid-sized base to compete in this arena Ì not to

mention possibly acquiring other kinds of Ñnancial Ñrms Ì would require a

level of capital commitment that is demonstrably not in our shareholders'

near-term interests. We therefore moved to divest our life insurance business

and to put the proceeds from this divestiture to work in ways that immediately

enhance shareholder value and improve our return on equity. We are focusing

our longer-term eÅorts on serving the growing needs of the Chubb franchise

customer through other, more capital-eÇcient avenues.

At the same time, changes in real estate led us to conclude that this is an

advantageous time to redeploy capital away from this business, and we are

currently pursuing the sale of a substantial portion of our real estate assets.

The balance of this letter explains these decisions further and outlines how

we intend to serve our customers and shareholders in the years ahead.

Selling Life Insurance

and Real Estate

On February 23, 1997, we entered into a deÑnitive agreement to sell Chubb

Life Insurance Company of America to JeÅerson-Pilot Corporation for

$875 million in cash.

Changing fundamentals in the life insurance industry contributed to our

decision to leave this business. A wave of consolidation is carrying the industry

to new heights of eÇciency and economies of scale. As already-large insurers

acquire rival companies of all sizes, they are simultaneously slashing their

costs and boosting their sales forces, thus creating a powerful one-two

competitive punch against mid-sized players such as Chubb Life. Despite the

excellent work done by Chubb Life management in the last two years to
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We have an

obligation Ì

one I feel most

strongly Ì to

maximize the value

of our shareholders'

investment.

streamline the business and enhance proÑtability, the company faced a

growing competitive disadvantage against these acquisitive giants.

A
gainst this backdrop, we evaluated several strategic alternatives for

Chubb Life, among them selling the company, spinning it oÅ to Chubb

Corporation shareholders, and restructuring Chubb Life's balance sheet

and continuing to operate the company as a Chubb subsidiary. Three factors

led to the decision to sell. The Ñrst was our inability, despite the strong eÅorts

of Chubb Life management, to generate adequate Ñnancial returns on our

investment in this business. The second was the conclusion that either of the

other two options would require Chubb shareholders to commit major new

capital to a business that, because of the competitive landscape, was unlikely

to produce an attractive return on that investment in the near term. The third

was the substantial interest expressed in the company by potential purchasers.

It became clear that the greatest immediate value for Chubb shareholders as

well as the brightest future for Chubb Life employees could be realized

through the sale of the company.

We are very pleased with the value we are realizing and with JeÅerson-Pilot's

stated intention to maintain a signiÑcant presence in Chubb Life's long-time

headquarters city of Concord, New Hampshire. We are working actively with

JeÅerson-Pilot to secure the required regulatory approvals and look forward to

closing the transaction promptly once these are obtained.

The decision to revisit Chubb's commitment to the real estate business was

based on several factors. We began to build this business some 25 years ago,

with the 1970 acquisition of Bellemead Development Corporation, as a

counter-cyclical and counter-inÖationary hedge for our property and casualty

operations. In the high-inÖation environment of the 1970s and 1980s,

Bellemead served this purpose well; in the low-inÖation years of the last

decade, real estate development has been less productive. Changes in the tax

laws enacted in 1986 also eroded the long-term attractiveness of the real estate

business for Chubb. The ensuing severe slump in the commercial property

market caused us to pursue a strategy of holding our properties as investments

until market conditions improved. The recent rebound in commercial real

estate provided the opportunity to explore alternatives for the future, including

sale of these assets. As a result, we have entered into an agreement with a

prospective purchaser to perform due diligence in anticipation of executing a

contract for the sale of substantially all of our commercial properties.
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Redeployment of Capital At its meeting on March 7, 1997, the Board of Directors authorized a new

share repurchase program, replacing the smaller one that has been in eÅect

since 1994. Under the 1994 program, we had repurchased 3.7 million shares

as of December 31, 1996. The new program authorizes the repurchase of up

to 17.5 million shares, or approximately 10% of Chubb's outstanding common

stock. We intend to use the bulk of the proceeds from the sale of Chubb Life

as well as cash generated by our continuing operations to implement this

authorization.

A sale of Bellemead's assets would result in the removal of substantial debt

from The Chubb Corporation's balance sheet. This would further enhance

our Ñnancial strength and give us added Öexibility to respond to attractive

opportunities in our core business. Consistent with our strategy, described

below, of focusing on the Chubb property and casualty customer, we have no

plans to commit signiÑcant capital outside of the insurance business.

O
ur decision to use the Chubb Life proceeds predominantly for share

repurchases reÖects our continued commitment to building shareholder

value and our determination to be even more disciplined about how we

manage our capital. One of Chubb's hallmarks is our Ñnancial strength, as

reÖected in the highest ratings our property and casualty subsidiaries receive

from all three major rating agencies. Maintaining this strength is a critical

component of the insurance promise we make to our customers. At the same

time, however, we have an obligation Ì one I feel most strongly Ì to

maximize the value of our shareholders' investment. This means ensuring that

we are adequately, not over-adequately, capitalized. It also means putting our

available capital to work behind those products, lines of business and

geographic regions that oÅer the highest prospective rates of return. The newly

authorized share repurchase program will leave suÇcient capital to continue to

support Chubb's geographic expansion and the building of our global business,

where we are conÑdent we can earn superior returns.

The sale of Chubb Life does not end our belief that our future lies partly in

providing the Chubb franchise customer with Ñnancial products and services

other than property and casualty insurance. This is true for both personal and

commercial lines. OÅering a range of Ñnancial products does not require that

Chubb manufacture all of them, however. In addition to our people and the

products we do produce, three of our most valuable attributes are the Chubb

name, our relationships with our distributors and our relationships with our

customers. These, along with our account servicing capabilities, can be put to

work through joint ventures, partnerships and strategic alliances, enabling us to

provide other Ñnancial products to our customer base without tying up

shareholders' capital outside of our core business.
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Some New Initiatives The longevity and depth of Chubb's ‚ ForeFront by Chubb, a new,

customer relationships at home and integrated policy designed expressly

abroad gives us invaluable insight into to address the four most common

the evolving needs and expectations specialty liability exposures faced by

of the companies and individuals that privately held companies, extends

we insure Ì insight which drives our our expertise in executive protection

product development and the identiÑ- and employment practices into the

cation of new market niches. We are private company marketplace. Intro-

currently mounting a number of initia- duced in 1996, this is the only

tives, including signiÑcant new prod- product of its kind in the market and

ucts, that leverage our customer and has been well received by producers

market knowledge in new ways. We and target customers.

expect these eÅorts to contribute to

Chubb continuing to outpace the ‚ A new political risk policy

industry growth rate in the years designed for U.S. middle market

ahead. They include: Ñrms with international operations.

This coverage is currently available

‚ Technology Insurance Group for large multinationals, but we have

(TIG). We established this indus- brought our expertise in the middle

try-focused customer group with the market to bear and designed an

mission of growing Chubb's busi- enhanced product, to be introduced

ness with electronics and other high in 1997, speciÑcally for this market

technology business from its current segment.

base of more than $300 million. As

we have done successfully in the ‚ Alternative risk transfer. We

past with Ñnancial institutions and are exploring several means of par-

energy companies, we are focusing ticipating in captives set up by

our considerable knowledge and insureds, including various consult-

experience on one group of custom- ing and fee-based arrangements.

ers facing similar risk management We expect our Bermuda-based sub-

challenges. TIG will introduce its Ñrst sidiary, Chubb Altantic Indemnity

new product, a package of cover- Ltd., to play an increasingly impor-

ages for biotechnology and medical tant role in this regard.

devices companies, in 1997.
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The Chubb Franchise

Customer

In commercial lines,

the Chubb franchise

customer is the

mid-sized growth

company.

One of the reasons that Chubb has grown proÑtably through all kinds of

markets and cycles is our ability to deÑne the customer segments we can

serve better than our competitors. By developing products and coverages that

meet Ì and often anticipate Ì these customers' risk management needs, we

establish long-term relationships with many of them. As these customers grow

and expand, they look to us for a widening range of risk protection service and

advice. In commercial lines, the Chubb franchise customer is the mid-sized

growth company. While we regularly provide sophisticated products and

services to some of the largest companies in the United States and abroad,

our future lies increasingly with the thousands of Ñrms with revenues below

the Fortune 500 threshold, many of which are growing rapidly, both

domestically and overseas. These Ñrms can be found in industries ranging

from electronics and biotechnology to telecommunications and multimedia as

well as in the more traditional manufacturing, wholesaling and Ñnancial

services sectors. Increasingly, as we illustrate on pages 14-18, they are based

and do business outside of the United States.

The common denominator for Chubb among these customers is that they

value Ì and are willing to pay for Ì the capabilities and attributes we

provide: Ñnancial strength, global reach, sophisticated loss control consulting, a

customer-Ñrst approach to claims handling, expertise in their business as well

as our own, and the ability and willingness to adapt coverages to meet an

individual customer's circumstances. They rely heavily on their agents or

brokers, who provide our vital link to this customer base and with whom we

work closely to construct tailored and value-added insurance programs.

These relationships are often grounded in years of doing business together.

Their longevity makes them diÇcult for competitors to penetrate. Equally

important, long-time customers understand and appreciate our requirements

for a successful alliance, chief among them, the ability to make an

underwriting proÑt.

I
n personal insurance, the Chubb franchise customer is the individual or

family with substantial personal assets to protect. These assets may take

the form of a large or architecturally distinguished home, a vacation

property, a luxury car or a collection of art, antiques, jewelry or family

heirlooms. Like our commercial customers, these individuals value our

Ñnancial strength, our prompt, hassle-free claims service, and the extra

coverages and services, sometimes diÇcult to Ñnd elsewhere, that we provide

as a matter of routine. They also value the advice and service of independent

agents and brokers.
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We believe that by focusing on these target segments of the domestic

commercial and personal insurance markets, we will continue to grow at rates

faster than the U.S. market as a whole. We are also conÑdent that our

growing base of international business and our ability to serve all of our

customers on a global basis will be increasingly signiÑcant contributors to

Chubb's overall results. In the balance of this letter, we outline our strategies

and some of the new products and initiatives we have planned in commercial

and personal lines.

Commercial Insurance The commercial insurance market in the United States remains highly

competitive. Annual premium growth in the 1990s has averaged about 3%. In

addition to over-capacity and the resulting pressure on pricing, the long-term

consolidation of the property and casualty business into the hands of fewer

distributors is reshaping the market. The number of independent producers has

declined from 85,000 to 39,000 over the last 30 years.

We do business with four broad segments of producers in the United States:

the Ñve major multinational brokers, who control approximately 44% of

agency-produced industry premiums; six interstate brokers, with 6% market

share; approximately 90 regional agents and brokers, which represent about 8%

of this market; and independent agents, which as a group aggregate about 42%

of the property and casualty premiums in this market segment.

Consolidation

highlights the

importance of

strong producer

relationships.

The consolidation taking place in all four segments highlights the importance

of strong producer relationships. While Chubb traditionally has managed these

relationships by line of business, our focus in the future will be on the

particular needs and opportunities of each producer segment. We are

increasingly customizing our marketing approaches, initiatives and incentives

to the make-up of each segment, seeking the most value out of each producer

relationship, not only for Chubb but for the agent or broker as well.

Chubb continues to register good growth with all segments. We have strong,

long-standing relationships with all of the multinational brokers. Our expertise

in serving the middle-market customer makes us an attractive carrier to any

producer, and our national and global capabilities give us a distinct advantage

among regional and interstate brokers and independent agents.

Another catalyst of Chubb's domestic growth has been our strategy of branch

oÇce expansion. While other insurers have cut back their domestic branch

structures, we have continued to build our network of more than

50 U.S. branches. In 1996, we established our newest U.S. oÇce in

Columbus, Ohio; by year-end, this branch was producing new premiums at
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Internationally,

we expect growth

to continue at a

rate of more than

15% a year.

a multi-million-dollar pace. Despite the diÇcult market, numerous other

U.S. branches generated proÑtable, double-digit growth in 1996.

Opening local oÇces, staÇng them with seasoned underwriting talent well-

trained in the needs of the particular market, and working closely with local

agents and customers may not sound as scintillating as risk securitization or

selling over the Internet Ì avenues we are also exploring Ì but they are

proven strategies for success. Our relationship with our distributors represents

a real competitive advantage for Chubb, and cultivating our producers is vital

to our continued growth. This is especially true among regional brokers and

independent agents, which together account for half the domestic agent and

broker market. These producers tend to have especially close ties to their

customers and strong allegiances to their carriers, characteristics that Ñt well

with our relationship-based approach.

At the same time as we pursue local expansion, we are also reconÑguring our

domestic Ñeld structure to serve producers and customers better and to

operate more cost-eÅectively. In 1996, we began to concentrate account

servicing functions in regional centers and to focus local branches more tightly

on underwriting, marketing and relationship-building activities. This recon-

Ñguration is enabling us to reduce branch oÇce overhead and devote more of

our key underwriters' time to serving producers and customers.

I
nternationally, we expect growth to continue at a rate of more than 15% a

year. We made further excellent progress in 1996, registering solid

premium gains across all international regions. We have opened eight new

overseas oÇces in the last year, including new underwriting oÇces in

Argentina, Australia, Denmark, England, Germany and Sweden, and a liaison

oÇce in New Delhi, India. Our rapidly growing book of indigenous business

in 30 countries is catapulting us into the elite ranks of truly global insurers

that can operate easily across borders because they are successfully integrated

into each local market. Based on our progress, we determined in 1996 to

increase our longer-term goal for international premiums. Our revised target is

to derive one third of Chubb's premiums from outside of the United States by

the year 2005.

Chubb's global reach is becoming a more and more signiÑcant competitive

advantage, especially with regional and interstate brokers and with independent

agents because their customers are doing more and more business overseas.

Unlike the major multinational brokers, which have developed their own

international networks, regional and local producers increasingly look to us Ì

and to our network of more than 110 oÇces covering all of the major

insurance markets Ì to provide global reach on their behalf. In the past year,
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we have established a new unit to better coordinate our multinational

resources to meet the needs of these producers and their customers. We are

marketing this coordinated multinational capability heavily and with signiÑcant

success. We have established a goal of building $2 billion in multinational

business by the year 2005.

In sum, we expect a combination of factors to lead Chubb to continue to

grow faster than the overall market. These include a sustained focus on our

target franchise customer, further solid growth in traditional Chubb specialties

such as directors and oÇcers liability and excess umbrella coverages, and the

rapid development of multinational business. We will also maintain absolutely

our traditional insistence on underwriting proÑtability, and we expect to

continue to outperform the U.S. industry on this basis as well.

Personal Insurance In 1995, Chubb reversed several years of slow growth in personal insurance

premiums that were the result of our need to get better control over our

exposure to potential major catastrophe losses. In 1996, we registered strong

growth in personal lines as well as a combined ratio of 91.7%. Personal

insurance premiums now exceed $1 billion, and we expect them to increase

at an attractive rate through the balance of the 1990s.

Personal insurance

premiums now

exceed $1 billion,

and we expect them

to increase at an

attractive rate

through the balance

of the 1990s.

Our optimism is based on several factors. First and foremost, we have the

right strategy. We know the customers we can serve better than any other

insurer. We developed our Masterpiece policy and the accompanying services

speciÑcally to meet their needs. We have extended the Masterpiece product

with the City Home and Vacation Home coverages. We believe that we are

the largest insurer of Ñne art, antiques, jewelry, heirlooms and other

collectibles in the country Ì and the world.

Second, our target market is growing rapidly. One study estimates that the

number of millionaire families in the United States has increased at a rate of

15% per year for the last seven years. Another projects that the number of

American millionaires will triple in the next 20 years. There is no question

that the longest bull market in history, together with a prolonged low-inÖation,

low-unemployment business cycle, has created substantial new wealth. With

Chubb as the recognized name in sophisticated personal asset protection, we

are already reaping the rewards of these trends and are well positioned to

continue doing so.

Third, we will launch two new personal lines initiatives in 1997. One is a new

automobile product, which we believe will oÅer the most comprehensive

collision and liability coverage on the road. The product and its pricing are

designed to attract owners of luxury cars and sport utility vehicles. While auto
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insurance remains a highly political and overly regulated line of business, the

environment has improved markedly in many states in recent years, and there

are clearly now opportunities to write this business proÑtably on a selective

basis. We intend to make the most of these and to use our new coverage both

to round out existing accounts and as a point of introduction for new

customers who have other assets we can protect as well.

T
he other initiative is an alternative way of selling personal property and

casualty insurance: marketing Masterpiece to select groups of target

customers through their employers. We are in the early stages of

planning this new means of gaining access to our target personal lines market.

It is clear to us that there are hundreds if not thousands of businesses Ì

Chubb insures more than 700 of the largest U.S. law Ñrms, for example Ì

where we can build on an existing relationship and oÅer personal lines

coverages to the owners, partners or senior managers of these companies. We

will launch this eÅort on a pilot basis later in 1997.

Lastly, we are enjoying good success in our eÅorts to export Masterpiece to

other countries. In Canada, where we have been active longest, we are the

leading insurer in our target market. Masterpiece has been enthusiastically

received in the United Kingdom, Belgium and Australia, and we are

optimistic about its prospects in Germany and France. While the aggregate

premium numbers are still small, we are laying the foundation for long-term

growth in some of the world's wealthiest economies.

Other SigniÑcant

Developments

I am particularly pleased to report that in the fourth quarter of 1996, the

trilateral settlement reached in August 1993 among Fibreboard Corporation;

Continental Casualty Company, a subsidiary of CNA Financial Corporation;

and Chubb's subsidiary, PaciÑc Indemnity Company, became Ñnal. The

settlement relieves PaciÑc Indemnity from any further obligation with respect

to asbestos-related claims against Fibreboard beyond the funds we have

already paid to settle outstanding claims and those set aside for future asbestos

claimants. We are delighted that, for Chubb, the Fibreboard case has been

fully and Ñnally resolved.

A year ago, we planned to phase out our long-standing business arrangements

with Sun Alliance Group plc, under which each company participated in the

other's book of business. With the recent merger of Sun Alliance and Royal

Insurance, however, we decided to accelerate this unwinding so that it was

fully completed as of January 1, 1997. One result is that we now retain more

Chubb-underwritten business, which is to our shareholders' beneÑt. Another is

that we will experience a one-time increase in U.S. premiums in 1997. This
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will cause international premiums as a percentage of our total to be

temporarily reduced. However, since we expect non-U.S. premiums to grow

faster than our U.S. book, international business should continue to increase

as a percentage of the total as we move forward.

O
n February 1, 1997, Percy Chubb III, known to all of us as Pi, retired

as vice chairman of The Chubb Corporation. The great grandson of our

founder, Thomas Caldecot Chubb, Pi has served his family Ñrm for

nearly 40 years. He joined Chubb & Son in 1958 as an underwriting trainee

in the downtown New York oÇce and held a variety of positions with Chubb

companies throughout his career. Named a Chubb & Son director in 1965

and a director of The Chubb Corporation in 1978, he has served as both chief

administrative oÇcer of Chubb & Son and chief Ñnancial oÇcer of The

Chubb Corporation. In addition to his myriad contributions to the company,

Pi is a great friend to all of us. We will miss his day-to-day participation in

the management of the company, but are delighted that he will continue to

serve Chubb as a director.

I am very pleased to welcome Sheila P. Burke to The Chubb Corporation

Board of Directors. Mrs. Burke served as chief of staÅ for 10 years to Senate

Majority Leader Bob Dole and is now executive dean of The John F.

Kennedy School of Government at Harvard University. She joined the Board

on March 7, 1997.

At its meeting on September 5, 1996, the Board of Directors elected John J.

Degnan president of The Chubb Corporation. John joined Chubb & Son in

1990 as general counsel. He was named vice chairman of Chubb & Son in

1994 and a corporate oÇcer in 1995. Among his other responsibilities, John

oversees our claims management, and in this capacity he was one of the

principal architects of the Fibreboard settlement.

In July, David B. Kelso joined The Chubb Corporation as executive vice

president. He was named chief Ñnancial oÇcer in October when Pi Chubb

stepped down from that position. David brings to Chubb substantial

experience in banking and Ñnancial services as both a senior manager and a

management consultant.

T
he election of a new director and appointment of two seasoned and

experienced executives to the most senior management ranks of The

Chubb Corporation rounds out an important and eventful year for the

company. When measured against the goals we set for ourselves last year Ì
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producing an above-average return for our shareholders, making an underwrit-

ing proÑt, growing our business in international and domestic markets,

managing expenses eÅectively, and exceeding our customers' expectations Ì I

believe we had a very successful year as well.

As always, we are grateful for the hard work of our employees and thankful

for the loyalty of our agents, brokers and customers. In large part because of

the successful eÅorts of all of these people, we have entered 1997 conÑdent of

another prosperous year for Chubb.

Sincerely,

Dean R. O'Hare

Chairman and Chief Executive OÇcer

March 7, 1997

13



The Chubb Customer Around the World

I
n last year's annual report, we outlined the strategies that have

transformed Chubb from a primarily domestic company into a global

property and casualty insurer. We feature this year a few of the

customers, agents and brokers who rely on Chubb around the world. The

businesses we have selected Ì some small, others quite large Ì illustrate

diÅerent aspects of the insurance relationship and many of the diÅerent

reasons agents, brokers and customers choose Chubb. Whether they build

airplanes or broadcast the daily news, the companies described here are

distinctive for the quality of their products and services and for the depth of

their commitment to their customers. These are the same qualities for which

Chubb aims to be known around the world.

The Boeing Company,

Seattle, Washington

The largest manufacturer of commercial aircraft in the world and one of the

largest exporters in the United States, The Boeing Company relies on more

than 200 insurers to protect its $22 billion

airplane manufacturing, defense and aerospace

business. However, few insurance relationships

run as deep or span as many years as that

between Boeing and Chubb. Working through

global insurance broker Johnson & Higgins,

Chubb has provided multiple domestic and

international property and casualty coverages

for Boeing for twenty-Ñve years. Throughout

this long-standing relationship, Chubb, Boeing

and Johnson & Higgins have worked as a

team, meeting at least once a month to discuss

the intricacies of Boeing's insurance program.

Craig Moore, Boeing's insurance director for the past seven years, credits the

strength of the relationship in part to the caliber and constancy of its key

players. The J&H team, led by Emmett Maloof, account manager, and

Gerald Swanson, Aviation/Space practice partner, includes 59 people in

Seattle alone dedicated to Boeing. Leslie Conti, Chubb's account manager for

Boeing, has been underwriting the account for nearly two decades. Moore

adds that Chubb doesn't take the Boeing account or its longevity for granted.

As a measure of that, Chubb's chairman and CEO is an integral member of

the Chubb/Boeing team and visits with Boeing at least twice a year.

Maloof also points to Chubb's willingness to collaborate and oÅer imaginative

solutions when it comes to underwriting complex exposures. For example,

when Boeing sought insurance for a sensitive risk, Chubb found a way to

customize the policy by providing more explicit deÑnitions of coverage terms
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and time frames. According to Maloof, this willingness to adapt and be

Öexible is emblematic of Chubb's relationship with Boeing and J&H.

Katun Corporation,

Minneapolis, Minnesota

With nearly $300 million in annual sales, the Katun Corporation manufactures

and distributes parts for photocopiers and other oÇce equipment. As the

leading distributor of toners, developers and photoreceptors, and a leading

manufacturer of fuser rollers, Katun depends upon a far-reaching insurance

program. In the past, Katun relied on one insurer to cover its U.S.-based

headquarters and manufacturing and distribution facilities and another to

protect its sales and distribution operations in Canada, Mexico, the

Netherlands, United Kingdom, Germany, France, Italy, Spain, Portugal,

Sweden and the United Arab Emirates.

W. A. Lang Co., a

leading Midwest

agency, is responsible

for recommending

Chubb to Katun and

for helping structure

Katun's global insur-

ance program. W. A.

Lang has represented

Chubb for more than

25 years and has tradi-

tionally looked to

Chubb to provide its

clients with specialty

coverage such as direc-

tors and oÇcers liability

and excess umbrella. For Katun, however, W. A. Lang wanted one global

insurer that could provide not only specialty coverages, but also top-notch,

local claim and loss prevention service in every country where Katun does

business today Ì or plans to do business in the future.

Making the most of its international network, Chubb's Minneapolis, Rotter-

dam and London branches worked together to build a program that covers

more than a dozen Katun locations around the world as well as the shipping

of products to more than 140 countries. To consolidate a potentially daunting

array of coverages for these multiple locations, Chubb oÅers Katun a single

limit for business interruption covering Katun's net income and continuing

expenses if a facility suÅers a loss anywhere in the world. In addition to

protecting Katun's locations and goods in transit, Chubb also provides liability,
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foreign travel, workers' compensation, umbrella and executive protection

coverages.

TECH Semiconductor and

Chartered Semiconductor,

Singapore

Consider the Ñnancial

might of the tiny

microchip. Virtually

every electronic device

in the world, from

super computers to

garage door openers,

depends upon

microchips. Compa-

nies that manufacture

computer microchips

face losing $1 million

or more a day if a

Ñre, contamination or equipment malfunction causes a plant to shut down.

With so much at stake, leading manufacturers of microchips such as TECH

Semiconductor and Chartered Semiconductor in Singapore depend upon an

insurer with an intimate knowledge of the exposures inherent in high-tech

manufacturing.

Both Singapore companies operate ""clean rooms'' 24 hours a day, 7 days a

week to convert silicon wafers into integrated circuits. The process depends

upon expensive, sophisticated manufacturing tools and elaborate systems that

detect smoke, heat and explosive gases. Understanding the technical demands

of the electronics industry is essential to serving these customers well. In

recommending insurance programs for TECH and Chartered with Chubb,

the broker, Nelson Hurst Insurance Brokers, had speciÑc Chubb strengths in

mind: a strong underwriting relationship, consistent capacity, a proven

understanding of the high-tech electronics industry, a record of exemplary

claim handling and, particularly, the commitment and ability to provide local,

knowledgeable loss control service.

As the lead underwriter on both accounts, Chubb visits each company with

the broker regularly. Chip manufacturers continually modify their production

processes to increase eÇciency, so regular visits from loss control experts

ensure that all parties are apprised of the latest enhancements and the

potential hazards they pose. Customers such as TECH Semiconductor and

Chartered Semiconductor are so attuned to the potential hazards within their

operations, they make a point of asking what more they can do to protect

their plant and equipment. These customers are a good match for Chubb
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because they demonstrate a genuine commitment to producing the best

possible product in the safest possible conditions.

The British Broadcasting

Corporation, London, England

For more than forty years, the world-renowned BBC obtained insurance

coverages through several diÅerent carriers for its television and radio

broadcasting services. While working with many insurers is hardly unusual for

large companies, the BBC and its broker, Bowring Marsh & McLennan, took

an unusual approach when it came time to renew the BBC's many insurance

policies. BBC's Treasurer, Jonathan Clarke, looked for a specialist broadcast-

ing carrier who could streamline the insurance program without diminishing its

scope. Following a competitive tender process, Chubb was selected. Working

closely with Bowring Marsh & McLennan, Chubb combined property,

casualty, marine, automobile, employers liability and personal accident

coverages in one comprehensive program with a single aggregate limit. In

addition to consolidating coverages, Chubb also provides the BBC with a

single point of contact, an on-going loss control program in the UK and

locally admitted coverage for the BBC's interests in Australia and the United

States.

In remodelling the architecture of the insurance program with the client and

the broker, Chubb was able to demonstrate its ability to coordinate multiple

underwriting resources to craft one, uniÑed program.

Avantel, Mexico City When Avantel began installing the Ñrst 5,300 kilometers of an 18,000

kilometer Ñber optic network with state-of-the-art transmission and voice/data

capabilities, it needed a state-of-the art insurance program to match. To cover

the large and intricate network of telephone lines that will ultimately connect

all cities in Mexico, the insurance program demanded not only Ñrst-rate loss

control and claim service, but also a broad range of coverages that could

protect Mexico's newest long-distance

telephone company as it grew. With

these complex requirements in mind,

Avantel's broker, Brockman y Schuh

approached Chubb de Mexico.

Working side by side, Brockman y Schuh and Chubb adapted and built upon

Chubb's already broad policy for electronics Ñrms. Together, they deÑned the

appropriate limits and coverages for Avantel's unique exposures and designed

a sophisticated loss prevention program that addresses the intricacies of

Avantel's high-tech operations. The Avantel program speaks not only to

Chubb's comfort with high-tech electronics accounts, but also to the

importance of working as a team with the local broker to deÑne and respond

to the customer's needs.
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Rogers Communications,

Toronto, Canada

It started with a travelling band. While still in college, musician Ted Rogers

decided he should insure his prized possession: his musical instruments. He

asked a friend, Toby Hull, about obtaining an insurance policy. Four years

later, Ted bought a radio station in Toronto and again turned to his friend,

this time seeking an insurance program for his new company, Rogers

Broadcasting Limited. Toby's brokerage, Thomas I. Hull Insurance Ltd.,

Ñrst bound the coverage for Rogers' radio station through Chubb thirty years

ago and the three have been working

together ever since.

Today, Rogers Communications is a

$2.5 billion communications company

consisting of Rogers Cablesystems Lim-

ited, Canada's largest cable television

company; Rogers Cantel Inc., the coun-

try's largest wireless telephone company;

and Rogers Multi-Media Inc., a com-

pany with interests in radio and televi-

sion broadcasting as well as publishing.

To protect these businesses, Rogers counts on the expertise The Hull Group

and Chubb have in communications insurance. Chubb has consistently been

able to oÅer Rogers a customized program that features more than a dozen

diÅerent property and liability coverages. Given the pace of innovation within

the communications industry Ì everything from the Internet to cellular

phones are transforming the way we talk to one another Ì Rogers relies on

The Hull Group and Chubb for advice about the company's changing

insurance requirements and for the peace of mind that comes with thirty years

of building an insurance program together.
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Board and Management Changes

D
uring 1996, several changes occurred among the Motamed, Kenneth C. Simmons, Timothy J. Szerlong,

Directors and OÇcers of the Corporation and its William J. Tabinsky and Gary J. Tully were elected

principal subsidiaries. Managing Directors. Douglas A. Batting and David B.

Kelso were elected Executive Vice Presidents.

Megan G. Colwell, Robert C. Cox, Fabian J. Fondriest,At The Chubb Corporation, James I. Cash, Jr. was

George F. Marts, Rana Nikpour and John M. Swordselected a Director by the Shareholders at the Annual

were elected Senior Vice Presidents.Meeting in April.  Henry U. Harder, former Chairman

of the Corporation, retired as a Director.  Mr. Harder

had served as a Director since 1974 and had retired as
Thirty-Ñve Vice Presidents were elected.  They are:

Chairman of the Corporation in 1988.  His counsel
James E. Altman, William D. Arrighi, John L. Bayley,

and wisdom will be missed by all who had the pleasure
Charles A. Borda, Thomas B. Breiner, Rose Mary P.

of working with him.
Ciraulo, Richard A. Ciullo, James C. Conroy,

Andrew T. Cunningham, Robert F. Dadd, James A.
John J. Degnan was elected President and David B. Darling, Wilma J. Davis, Frances E. Dugan, Kathleen S.
Kelso an Executive Vice President.  Daniel J. Conway Ellis, Timothy T. Ellis, Philip W. Fiscus, Michael G.
was elected a Senior Vice President and Wilma J. Furgueson, Perry S. Granof, Patricia A. Hurley,
Davis and Brant W. Free, Jr. were elected Vice Richard A. Ioset, Margaret A. Klose, John A. Kuhn,
Presidents.  Joseph A. Morein retired as a Vice Michael L. Marinaro, Richard D. Mauk, Charles S.
President of the Corporation. Merton, Joseph C. O'Donnell, Steven M. Pickett,

Linda J. Rinehart, Frank E. Robertson, Dino Robusto,
On February 1, 1997, Percy Chubb, III retired as Vice Ruth M. Ryan, Peter J. Tucker, Karl J. UphoÅ,
Chairman of The Chubb Corporation and Chubb & Harry C. Wallace and David B. Williams.
Son Inc.  He continues as a Director of the Corporation.

At Chubb Life Insurance Company of America,
At Chubb & Son Inc., Frederick L. Hyer, Jr. retired as a

Charles C. Cornelio was elected an Executive Vice
Managing Director and an Executive Vice President

President and Paul J. Strong was elected a Senior Vice
and James E. Price retired as a Managing Director and

President.  Kenneth L. Robinson, Jr., James M.
a Senior Vice President.  Donald P. Bush, Jr.,

Sandelli and William H. Tate were elected Vice
Thomas J. Monte, Dudley R. Smith and James L.

Presidents.
Talley retired as Senior Vice Presidents.  John L. Bier,

Ernest A. Handelmann, Charles B. Kray, Joseph L.

Mairo and John C. Young retired as Vice Presidents. At Bellemead Development Corporation, Diana E.

Each of them had long and distinguished careers at Fainberg and Eleanor May were elected Senior Vice

Chubb. Presidents.  Joelle Halperin was elected Vice President

and Associate General Counsel. William Mink,

Alan C. Brown, John H. Gillespie, David B. Kelso, Edward Oliu, Ann Rodgers and Anthony Uanino were

Paul J. Krump, Michael J. Marchio, Thomas F. elected Vice Presidents.
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Forward Looking Information

C
ertain statements in this document may be con- or uncertainties associated with the Corporation's an-

sidered to be ""forward looking statements'' as nounced sale activities relating to portions of its non-

that term is deÑned in the Private Securities property and casualty business, or associated with its

Litigation Reform Act of 1995, such as statements that expectations of proceeds deployment, asset valuations,

include the words or phrases ""will likely result'', ""are or premium and investment income growth projections,

expected to'', ""will continue'', ""is anticipated'', ""esti- product initiatives, and new cash available for invest-

mate'', ""project'' or similar expressions. In particular, ment, and, more generally, to: general economic condi-

this report includes forward looking statements relating, tions including changes in interest rates and the

but not limited to, the Corporation's recent sale activi- performance of the Ñnancial markets, changes in domes-

ties, reinsurance programs, and future premium and tic and foreign laws, regulations and taxes, changes in

investment income growth. Such statements are subject competition and pricing environments, regional or gen-

to certain risks and uncertainties. The factors which eral changes in asset valuation, the occurrence of

could cause actual results to diÅer materially from signiÑcant natural disasters, the inability to reinsure

those suggested by any such statements include, but are certain risks economically, the adequacy of loss reserves,

not limited to those discussed or identiÑed from time to as well as general market conditions, competition, pric-

time in the Corporation's public Ñlings with the Securi- ing and restructurings.

ties & Exchange Commission and speciÑcally to: risks
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Supplementary Financial Data

In Thousands
Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

Property and Casualty Insurance

Underwriting

Net Premiums WrittenÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $4,773,753 $4,305,992 $3,951,209

Increase in Unearned Premiums ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (204,497) (158,830) (174,926)

Premiums Earned ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,569,256 4,147,162 3,776,283

Claims and Claim Expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,010,755 2,669,981 2,519,359

Operating Costs and ExpensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,547,402 1,393,373 1,288,692

Increase in Deferred Policy Acquisition CostsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (42,522) (29,223) (39,751)

Dividends to Policyholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 23,279 18,877 16,294

Underwriting Income (Loss) Before Income TaxÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30,342 94,154 (8,311)

Federal and Foreign Income Tax (Credit) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 13,200 38,500 (500)

Underwriting Income (Loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,142 55,654 (7,811)

Investments

Investment Income Before Expenses and Income TaxÏÏÏ 656,135 613,242 570,531

Investment ExpensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 10,079 10,255 10,050

Investment Income Before Income TaxÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 646,056 602,987 560,481

Federal and Foreign Income Tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 101,900 95,800 85,500

Investment Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 544,156 507,187 474,981

Property and Casualty Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 561,298 562,841 467,170

Real Estate

Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 319,787 287,795 204,849

Cost of Sales and Expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 555,642(a) 280,099(b) 210,799

Real Estate Income (Loss) Before Income TaxÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (235,855) 7,696 (5,950)

Federal Income Tax (Credit) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (89,069) 1,686 (3,913)

Real Estate Income (Loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (146,786) 6,010 (2,037)

Corporate, Net of Tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19,652 14,809 7,661

CONSOLIDATED OPERATING INCOME FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONSÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 434,164 583,660 472,794

Realized Investment Gains from Continuing Operations,
Net of TaxÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 52,029 70,752 35,124

CONSOLIDATED INCOME FROM
CONTINUING OPERATIONSÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 486,193 654,412 507,918

Income From Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax (c)ÏÏÏÏÏ 26,491 42,216 20,551

CONSOLIDATED NET INCOME ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 512,684 $ 696,628 $ 528,469

(a) Includes a $255,000,000 write-down of the carrying value of certain real estate assets to their estimated fair value.

(b) Includes an increase of $10,000,000 to the allowance for uncollectible receivables resulting from the initial application of Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan.

(c) In February 1997, the Corporation entered into a deÑnitive agreement to sell its life and health insurance operations. As a result, these operations

have been classiÑed as discontinued operations.

The above federal and foreign income tax provisions represent allocations of the consolidated provision.
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Property and Casualty Underwriting Results

Net Premiums Written (In Millions of Dollars)

1996 1995 1994 1993 1992
Personal Insurance

Automobile ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 243.1 $ 200.3 $ 188.0 $ 192.1 $ 191.3
HomeownersÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 546.1 455.6 436.5 434.1 420.6
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 250.0 210.9 204.3 201.6 195.4

Total PersonalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,039.2 866.8 828.8 827.8 807.3

Commercial Insurance
Multiple Peril ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 671.0 575.7 522.6 480.8 432.9
Casualty ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 818.0 717.3 667.8 728.9(a) 569.9
Workers' Compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 243.7 223.4 201.6 181.1 175.5
Property and Marine ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 495.0 426.3 360.0 277.5 236.0
Executive Protection ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 775.7 647.0 596.4 515.2 496.8
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 528.7 481.0 458.8 415.1 379.0

Total Commercial ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,532.1 3,070.7 2,807.2 2,598.6(a) 2,290.1

Reinsurance Assumed ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 202.5 368.5 315.2 219.9 145.1

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $4,773.8 $4,306.0 $3,951.2 $3,646.3(a) $3,242.5

(a) Includes a $125 million return premium to the Corporation's property and casualty insurance subsidiaries related to the commutation

of a medical malpractice reinsurance agreement. Excluding this return premium, net premiums written were $603.9 million for

Casualty, $2,473.6 million for Commercial and $3,521.3 million in Total.

EÅective January 1, 1996, the reinsurance agreements with the Royal & Sun Alliance Insurance Group plc were changed. This resulted in

the Corporation's property and casualty insurance subsidiaries retaining a greater portion of the business written directly and assuming less

reinsurance from Royal & Sun Alliance.

Combined Loss and Expense Ratios

Personal Insurance
Automobile ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 86.5% 87.4% 96.3% 97.5% 100.2%
HomeownersÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 104.3 93.8 110.2 100.1 113.1
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 69.3 72.6 80.7 84.2 89.2

Total PersonalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 91.7 87.1 99.8 95.6 104.3

Commercial Insurance
Multiple Peril ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 118.1 110.0 112.4 117.2 116.0
Casualty ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 113.3 113.8 101.9 175.8(b) 91.3
Workers' Compensation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 101.8 95.1 103.9 117.3 117.7
Property and Marine ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 97.8 92.9 102.5 98.7 99.1
Executive Protection ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 76.5 82.1 81.4 78.4 83.1
Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 89.3 95.1 100.2 99.1 98.9

Total Commercial ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 99.7 99.3 99.4 121.4(b) 98.2

Reinsurance Assumed ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ N/M 99.2 100.1 112.4 129.9

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 98.3% 96.8% 99.5% 114.8%(b) 101.1%

(b) Includes the eÅects of a $675 million increase in unpaid claims related to an agreement for the settlement of asbestos-related

litigation and the $125 million return premium related to the commutation of a medical malpractice reinsurance agreement.

Excluding the eÅects of these items, the combined loss and expense ratio was 97.4% for Casualty, 99.2% for Commercial and 99.0%

in Total.

The combined loss and expense ratio, expressed as a percentage, is the key measure of underwriting proÑtability traditionally used in the

property and casualty insurance business. It is the sum of the ratio of losses to premiums earned plus the ratio of underwriting expenses to

premiums written after reducing both premium amounts by dividends to policyholders.

The underwriting results for prior years include certain reclassiÑcations to conform with the 1996 presentation, which more closely reÖects

the way the property and casualty business is now managed. The total net premiums written and combined loss and expense ratio are not

aÅected.
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Management's Discussion and
Analysis of Financial Condition
and Results of Operations

T
he following discussion presents our past results Property and Casualty Insurance

and our expectations for the near term future. Property and casualty income in 1996 was similar to that

Separately, we present our consolidated Ñnancial in 1995, which was signiÑcantly higher than 1994

statements and related notes on pages 42 to 64 and other income. Property and casualty income after taxes was

supplementary Ñnancial information on pages 21, 22, 40 $561 million in 1996 compared with $563 million in 1995

and 41, all of which are integral parts of the analysis of and $467 million in 1994. Earnings in 1996 reÖect lower

our results of operations and our Ñnancial position. underwriting income compared with 1995 due to substan-

tially higher catastrophe losses, resulting primarily from

the winter storms in the eastern part of the United StatesNet income amounted to $513 million in 1996 compared

in the Ñrst quarter. Investment income increased in 1996with $697 million in 1995 and $528 million in 1994. Net

compared with the prior year. Earnings in 1995 beneÑtedincome in 1996 reÖects a fourth quarter charge of

from highly proÑtable underwriting results and an$160 million after taxes related to the write-down of the

increase in investment income compared with 1994.carrying value of certain real estate assets.

Earnings in 1994 were adversely aÅected by higher

catastrophe losses, resulting from the earthquake inThe Corporation entered into a deÑnitive agreement,
California and the winter storms in the eastern anddated February 23, 1997, to sell its life and health
midwestern parts of the United States.insurance operations to JeÅerson-Pilot Corporation for

$875 million in cash, subject to various closing adjust-

ments and other customary conditions. The sale is Catastrophe losses were $142 million in 1996, $64 million
subject to regulatory approvals and is expected to be in 1995 and $169 million in 1994. Our initial retention
completed by the end of the second quarter of 1997. In level for each catastrophic event is approximately
light of the decision to sell, the life and health insurance $100 million. We did not have any recoveries from our
operations have been classiÑed as discontinued opera- catastrophe reinsurance coverage during the past three
tions. For a further discussion of the discontinued life and years since there were no individual catastrophes for
health insurance operations, see page 36. which our losses exceeded the initial retention.

Income from continuing operations, which includes
Net premiums written amounted to $4.8 billion in 1996,

realized investment gains and losses related to such
an increase of 11% compared with 1995. Net premiums

operations, was $486 million in 1996 compared with
written increased 9% in 1995 compared with 1994.

$655 million in 1995 and $508 million in 1994. Decisions
Personal coverages accounted for $1,039 million or 22%

to sell securities are governed principally by considera-
of 1996 premiums written, commercial coverages for

tions of investment opportunities and tax consequences.
$3,532 million or 74% and reinsurance assumed for

Thus, realized investment gains and losses may vary
$203 million or 4%. More than half of the 1996 premium

signiÑcantly from year to year.
growth was due to changes in certain reinsurance

agreements, which are discussed below.
Operating income from continuing operations, which

excludes realized investment gains and losses, was
The marketplace remained competitive, particularly in$434 million in 1996 compared with $584 million in 1995
the commercial classes, in all our markets worldwide.and $473 million in 1994.
Competitors continued to place signiÑcant pressure on

pricing as they attempted to maintain or increase market

share. As a result, price increases have been diÇcult to
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For many years, a portion of the U.S. insurance business

written by the Corporation's property and casualty

subsidiaries has been reinsured on a quota share basis

with a subsidiary of the Sun Alliance Group plc.

Similarly, a subsidiary of the Corporation has assumed a

portion of Sun Alliance's property and casualty business

on a quota share basis. EÅective January 1, 1996, the

agreements pertaining to the exchange of reinsurance

were amended to reduce the portion of each company's

business reinsured with the other. Consequently, during

1996, the Corporation's property and casualty subsidiaries

retained a greater portion of the business they wrote

directly and assumed less reinsurance from Sun Alliance.

As a result of these changes in retention, net premiums

written in 1996 increased by $64 million for the personal

classes and $138 million for the commercial classes and

decreased by $88 million for reinsurance assumed. There

was an additional impact on net premiums written in the

Ñrst quarter of 1996 due to the eÅect of the portfolio

transfers of unearned premiums as of January 1, 1996

resulting from these changes. The eÅect of these portfolio

transfers was an increase in net premiums written of

$31 million for the personal classes and $61 million for

the commercial classes and a decrease of $65 million for

reinsurance assumed.

Also, eÅective January 1, 1996, our casualty excess of

loss reinsurance program was modiÑed, principally for

excess liability and executive protection coverages. The

changes included an increase in the initial retention for

each loss from $5 million to $10 million and an increase

Reinsurance
Assumed

PersonalCommercial

1996

1995

1994

1993

1992 $3,242

$3,646 (a)

$3,951

$4,306

$4,774

80%

100%

120%

140%

Personal

Reinsurance
Assumed

Commercial (b)

19961995199419931992

(a)Commercial net premiums written include a $125 million
return premium to the Corporation's property and casualty
insurance subsidiaries related to the commutation of a medical
malpractice reinsurance agreement. Excluding this item, total
net premiums written were $3,521 million.

(b)The commercial combined loss and expense ratio for 1993
includes the effects of a $675 million increase in unpaid
claims related to an agreement for the settlement of asbestos-
related litigation and the $125 million return premium to the Cor-
poration's property and casualty insurance subsidiaries related 
to the commutation of a medical malpractice reinsurance agree-
ment. Excluding the effects of these items, the commercial
combined loss and expense ratio for 1993 was 99.2%.

in the initial aggregate amount of losses retained for each

year before reinsurance becomes available. These changes

in our casualty reinsurance program increased net premi-achieve. In this environment, we have focused on our

ums written in 1996 by approximately $130 million.specialty lines where we emphasize the added value we

provide to our customers. Premium growth in 1996 and

1995 was due to exposure growth on existing business, Underwriting results were proÑtable in 1996 and 1995

the purchase of additional coverages by current custom- compared with near breakeven results in 1994. The

ers and the selective writing of new business. Substantial combined loss and expense ratio, the common measure

premium growth in both years was achieved outside the of underwriting proÑtability, was 98.3% in 1996 compared

United States from our expanding international branch with 96.8% in 1995 and 99.5% in 1994.

network.
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The loss ratio was 66.2% in 1996 compared with 64.7%

in 1995 and 67.0% in 1994. The loss ratios continue to

reÖect the favorable experience resulting from the

consistent application of our disciplined underwriting

standards. Losses from catastrophes represented 3.1, 1.5

and 4.5 percentage points of the loss ratio in 1996, 1995,

and 1994, respectively.

Our expense ratio was 32.1% in 1996 and 1995 and

32.5% in 1994. Expenses were reduced in 1994 by a

contingent proÑt sharing accrual of $11 million related to

a medical malpractice reinsurance agreement.

As a result of the 1996 merger of Sun Alliance with

Royal Insurance Holdings plc, the unwinding of our

Loss RatioExpense Ratio

1996

1995

1994

1993

1992

(in percent)

101.1%

114.8% (a)

99.5%

96.8%

98.3%

Combined

32.1

32.1

32.5

32.3

34.4

64.7

66.2

67.0

82.5

66.7

(a)The loss and expense ratios for 1993 include the effects of a 
$675 million increase in unpaid claims related to an agreement for 
the settlement of asbestos-related litigation and a $125 million
return premium to the Corporation's property and casualty
insurance subsidiaries related to the commutation of a medical
malpractice reinsurance agreement. Excluding the effects of 
these items, the losses to premiums earned ratio was 65.5%, the 
expenses to net premiums written ratio was 33.5%, and the combined 
loss and expense ratio was 99.0%.

reinsurance agreements with Sun Alliance was acceler-

ated. EÅective January 1, 1997, the agreements pertain- in net premiums written in 1997 resulting from this

ing to the exchange of reinsurance on a quota share basis change in our casualty reinsurance program is not

were terminated. As a result of the termination of these expected to be signiÑcant.

agreements, our net premiums written are expected to

increase in 1997 by approximately $125 million for the The impact on underwriting results in 1997 of the

personal classes and approximately $250 million for the termination of the reinsurance agreements with Sun

commercial classes. Personal and commercial net premi- Alliance and the changes to our casualty reinsurance

ums written will also include approximately $65 million program is not expected to be signiÑcant. Management

and $110 million, respectively, in the Ñrst quarter of 1997 believes that the retention of a greater portion of the

due to the eÅect of the portfolio transfer of unearned business underwritten by the property and casualty

premiums as of January 1, 1997 resulting from the subsidiaries will have a positive impact on net income in

termination of the agreements. Net premiums written for the future.

reinsurance assumed, which were $203 million in 1996,

are expected to be negligible in 1997 as the reduction in The following discussion of underwriting results reÖects

premiums related to the portfolio transfer of unearned certain reclassiÑcations to present results in a manner

premiums to Sun Alliance as of January 1, 1997 will be more consistent with the way the property and casualty

oÅset by the eÅect of the lag in our reporting of the business is now managed. Prior period amounts have

business we assumed from Sun Alliance for the second been restated to conform with the new presentation.

half of 1996.

PERSONAL INSURANCE

Premiums from personal insurance increased 20% inDuring 1996, we continued to evaluate the relative costs

1996 compared with a 5% increase in 1995. More thanand beneÑts of our casualty excess of loss reinsurance

half of the growth in 1996 was due to the changes in theprogram. As a result, eÅective January 1, 1997, we again

reinsurance agreement with Sun Alliance which resultedmodiÑed the program, increasing the initial retention for

in both the portfolio transfer of unearned premiums as ofeach loss from $10 million to $25 million. The increase
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expense ratio was 91.7% in 1996 compared with 87.1% in

1995 and 99.8% in 1994.

The proÑtability of our homeowners business each year is

aÅected substantially by the extent of catastrophe losses

experienced. Homeowners results were unproÑtable in

1996 as catastrophe losses, particularly the winter storms,

adversely aÅected results. Homeowners results were

proÑtable in 1995, beneÑting from lower catastrophe

losses, fewer large losses and a reduction in loss

frequency. The unproÑtable results in 1994 reÖect the

adverse eÅect of signiÑcant catastrophe losses, particu-

larly the winter storms and, to a lesser extent, the

California earthquake. Catastrophe losses represented

16.7 percentage points of the loss ratio for this class in

1996 compared with 10.3 percentage points in 1995 and

19.4 percentage points in 1994.

Other personal coverages, which include insurance for

personal valuables and excess liability, were highly

proÑtable in each of the past three years. Personal excess

liability results improved in 1995 and 1996 due to

favorable loss experience. Our automobile business pro-

OtherHomeownersAutomobile

1996

1995

1994

1993

1992 $807

$828

$829

$867

$1,039

70%

80%

90%

100%

110%

120%

Other

Homeowners

Automobile

19961995199419931992

duced proÑtable results in each of the last three years.

Results in 1996 and 1995 were particularly strong due to
January 1, 1996 and an increase in our retention lower loss frequency and severity. Automobile results
percentage for these classes. were adversely aÅected each year by losses from the

mandated business that we are required by law to accept
Excluding the eÅects of the changes in the reinsurance for those individuals who cannot obtain coverage in the
agreement, personal lines premiums increased 9% in voluntary market.
1996, our best growth rate in many years. We continued

to grow our homeowners and other non-automobile COMMERCIAL INSURANCE

business in non-catastrophe prone areas while maintain- Premiums from commercial insurance increased 15% in
ing our disciplined approach to pricing and risk selection. 1996 compared with 9% in 1995. Approximately 40% of
Personal automobile premiums increased as a result of an the 1996 growth in premiums was due to the changes in
increase in the number of in-force policies for high-value the reinsurance agreement with Sun Alliance which
automobiles. resulted in both the portfolio transfer of unearned

premiums as of January 1, 1996 and an increase in our
Our personal insurance business produced substantial retention percentage for these classes. In addition,
underwriting proÑts in 1996 and 1995 compared with premium growth in 1996 for the excess liability compo-
breakeven results in 1994. The combined loss and nent of our casualty coverages and for our executive

protection coverages beneÑted from the changes in our
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casualty excess of loss reinsurance program. Excluding

the eÅects of these changes in our reinsurance agree-

ments, premium growth in 1996 and 1995 was due

primarily to the selective writing of new accounts,

exposure growth on existing business and the purchase of

additional coverages by current customers. Premium

growth was particularly strong outside the United States.

The competitive market worldwide has continued to

place signiÑcant pressure on prices and has made price

increases diÇcult to achieve for most coverages. Our

strategy of working closely with our customers and our

ability to diÅerentiate our products have enabled us to

renew a large percentage of our business.

Our commercial insurance business produced near

breakeven underwriting results in each of the past three

years. The combined loss and expense ratio was 99.7% in

1996 compared with 99.3% in 1995 and 99.4% in 1994.

Multiple peril results were unproÑtable in each of the

past three years due, in large part, to inadequate prices.

Results deteriorated in 1996 due primarily to higher

catastrophe losses and an increase in the frequency of

large losses. Results for this class beneÑted in 1995 from

an absence of catastrophe losses. Results in 1994 were

adversely aÅected by signiÑcant catastrophe losses, pri-

marily from the earthquake in California. Catastrophe

losses represented 4.8 percentage points of the loss ratio

for this class in 1996 compared with 1.0 percentage point

in 1995 and 9.7 percentage points in 1994.

Other
Multiple

Peril

Executive

Protection

Casualty

Property
and Marine

W
orkers’

Compensation

1996

1995

1994

1993

1992 $2,290

$2,599 (a)

$2,807

$3,071

$3,532

70%

100%

130%

160%

190%

Other

Multiple Peril

Executive Protection

Casualty (b)

Property and Marine
Workers’ Compensation

19961995199419931992

(a)Casualty net premiums written include a $125 million return 
premium to the Corporation's property and casualty insurance 
subsidiaries related to the commutation of a medical malpractice
reinsurance agreement. Excluding this item, standard commer-
cial net premiums written were $2,474 million.

(b)The casualty combined loss and expense ratio for 1993 
includes the effects of a $675 million increase in unpaid claims 
related to an agreement for the settlement of asbestos-related 
litigation and the $125 million return premium to the Corporation's 
property and casualty insurance subsidiaries related to the 
commutation of a medical malpractice reinsurance agreement. 
Excluding the effects of these items, the casualty combined loss
and expense ratio was 97.4% in 1993 . 

Results for our casualty business were similarly unproÑta-

ble in 1996 and 1995 compared with near breakeven
Workers' compensation results were slightly unproÑtableresults in 1994. In each of the past three years, but more
in 1996 compared with proÑtable results in 1995 andso in 1996 and 1995, casualty results have been adversely
unproÑtable results in 1994. Results deteriorated in 1996aÅected by increases in loss reserves for asbestos-related
due in part to an increase in claim frequency and theand toxic waste claims. The excess liability component of
impact of price reductions. Results in 1995 beneÑtedour casualty coverages has remained proÑtable due to
from rate increases, reform of the beneÑt provisions offavorable loss experience in this class. Results in the
workers' compensation laws in many states, and theautomobile component were breakeven in 1996 compared
impact of medical cost containment and disabilitywith proÑtable results in 1995 and 1994.
management activities. Results from our share of the
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involuntary pools and mandatory business in which we agreement with Sun Alliance was terminated eÅective

must participate by law have also beneÑted from these January 1, 1997. Underwriting results for this segment

positive factors. were near breakeven in each of the past three years.

Property and marine results were proÑtable in 1996 and
LOSS RESERVES

1995 compared with unproÑtable results in 1994. Results
Loss reserves are our property and casualty subsidiaries'

in 1996 deteriorated somewhat due to an increase in
largest liability. At the end of 1996, gross loss reserves

catastrophe losses which were insigniÑcant in 1995. Both
totaled $9.5 billion compared with $9.6 billion and

years beneÑted from stable loss frequency. Results for
$8.9 billion at year-end 1995 and 1994, respectively.

this class in 1994 were adversely aÅected by signiÑcant
Reinsurance recoverable on such loss reserves was

catastrophe losses, resulting primarily from the earth-
$1.8 billion at year-end 1996 compared with $2.0 billion

quake in California. Catastrophe losses represented
at the end of 1995 and 1994. As a result of the changes

4.5 percentage points of the loss ratio for this class in
in the reinsurance agreements with Sun Alliance, there

1996 compared with 0.8 of a percentage point in 1995
were portfolio transfers of gross loss reserves and

and 6.8 percentage points in 1994.
reinsurance recoverable as of January 1, 1996. The eÅect

of these portfolio transfers was a decrease in gross lossOur executive protection results were highly proÑtable in
reserves of $209 million and a decrease in reinsuranceeach of the past three years due to favorable loss
recoverable of $244 million.experience. Our Ñnancial institutions business produced

increasingly proÑtable results in 1995 and 1996. The Loss reserves, net of reinsurance recoverable, increased
Ñnancial Ñdelity portion of this business was highly 2% in 1996 compared with 10% in 1995. The 1996
proÑtable in each of the past three years. Results in the increase would have been greater except that loss
non-Ñdelity portion of this business were unproÑtable in reserves were reduced as the result of signiÑcant pay-
1994 due in part to several large losses. ments during the year related to the settlement of

asbestos-related claims against Fibreboard Corporation,
Results in our other commercial classes were slightly

which is discussed below. Loss reserves included
proÑtable in 1996 compared with unproÑtable results in

$543 million, $999 million and $1,049 million at year-end
1995 and 1994. The improvement was attributable to our

1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively, related to the
surety business which had highly proÑtable results in

Fibreboard settlement. Loss and expense payments
1996. Results for this class were unproÑtable in 1995 due

related to the settlement aggregated $462 million,
to several large losses.

$60 million and $204 million in 1996, 1995 and 1994,

respectively. Excluding the Fibreboard reserves, loss
REINSURANCE ASSUMED

reserves, net of reinsurance recoverable, increased 9% in
Reinsurance assumed is treaty reinsurance assumed

1996 and 12% in 1995. Substantial reserve growth has
primarily from Sun Alliance. The growth in premiums in

occurred each year in those liability coverages, primarily
1995 was primarily due to an increase in our participation

excess liability and executive protection, that are charac-
in the business of Sun Alliance. The substantial decrease

terized by delayed loss reporting and extended periods of
in premiums in 1996 was due to the eÅects of the

settlement.
changes in the reinsurance agreement with Sun Alliance

whereby we assumed less reinsurance from them. The During 1996, we experienced overall favorable develop-

decrease in premiums included the Ñrst quarter eÅect of ment of $43 million on loss reserves established as of the

the $65 million portfolio transfer of unearned premiums previous year-end. This compares with favorable develop-

to Sun Alliance as of January 1, 1996. The reinsurance ment of $36 million in 1995 and $30 million in 1994.
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Such redundancies were reÖected in operating results in Company (a subsidiary of CNA Financial Corporation),

these respective years. Each of the past three years Fibreboard Corporation, and attorneys representing claim-

beneÑted from favorable claim severity trends for certain ants against Fibreboard for all future asbestos-related

liability classes; this was oÅset each year in varying bodily injury claims against Fibreboard. This agreement

degrees by increases in loss reserves relating to asbestos is subject to Ñnal appellate court approval. Pursuant to

and toxic waste claims. the global settlement agreement, a $1.525 billion trust

fund will be established to pay future claims, which are

claims that were not Ñled in court before August 27,The process of establishing loss reserves is an imprecise

1993. PaciÑc Indemnity will contribute approximatelyscience and reÖects signiÑcant judgmental factors. In

$538 million to the trust fund and Continental Casualtymany liability cases, signiÑcant periods of time, ranging

will contribute the remaining amount. In Decem-up to several years or more, may elapse between the

ber 1993, upon execution of the global settlementoccurrence of an insured loss, the reporting of the loss

agreement, PaciÑc Indemnity and Continental Casualtyand the settlement of the loss. In fact, approximately

paid their respective shares into an escrow account. Upon60% of our loss reserves at December 31, 1996 were for

Ñnal court approval of the settlement, the amount in theclaims that had not yet been reported to us, some of

escrow account, including interest earned thereon, will bewhich were not yet known to the insured, and for future

transferred to the trust fund. All of the parties havedevelopment on reported claims.

agreed to use their best eÅorts to seek Ñnal court

approval of the global settlement agreement.Judicial decisions and legislative actions continue to

broaden liability and policy deÑnitions and to increase the

severity of claim payments. As a result of this and other PaciÑc Indemnity and Continental Casualty reached a

societal and economic developments, the uncertainties separate agreement for the handling of all asbestos-

inherent in estimating ultimate claim costs on the basis related bodily injury claims pending on August 26, 1993

of past experience have increased signiÑcantly, further against Fibreboard. PaciÑc Indemnity's obligation under

complicating the already complex loss reserving process. this agreement with respect to such pending claims is

approximately $635 million, the Ñnal $450 million of

which was paid during 1996. The agreement furtherThe uncertainties relating to asbestos and toxic waste

provides that the total responsibility of both insurers withclaims on insurance policies written many years ago are

respect to pending and future asbestos-related bodilyexacerbated by judicial and legislative interpretations of

injury claims against Fibreboard will be shared betweencoverage that in some cases have tended to erode the

PaciÑc Indemnity and Continental Casualty on anclear and express intent of such policies and in others

approximate 35% and 65% basis, respectively.have expanded theories of liability. The industry is

engaged in extensive litigation over these coverage and

liability issues and is thus confronted with a continuing PaciÑc Indemnity, Continental Casualty and Fibreboard

uncertainty in its eÅorts to quantify these exposures. entered into a trilateral agreement to settle all present

and future asbestos-related bodily injury claims resulting

Our most costly asbestos exposure relates to an insurance from insurance policies that were, or may have been,

policy issued to Fibreboard Corporation by PaciÑc issued to Fibreboard by the two insurers. The trilateral

Indemnity Company in 1956. In 1993, PaciÑc Indemnity agreement will be triggered if the global settlement

Company, a subsidiary of the Corporation, entered into a agreement is disapproved by the United States Supreme

global settlement agreement with Continental Casualty Court. PaciÑc Indemnity's obligation under the trilateral

29



agreement is therefore similar to, and not duplicative of, We have additional potential asbestos exposure, primarily

that under those agreements described above. on insureds for which we wrote excess liability coverages.

Such exposure has increased due to the erosion of much

of the underlying limits. The number of claims againstThe trilateral agreement reaÇrms portions of an agree-

such insureds and the value of such claims havement reached in March 1992 between PaciÑc Indemnity

increased in recent years due in part to the non-viabilityand Fibreboard. Among other matters, that 1992 agree-

of other defendants.ment eliminates any PaciÑc Indemnity liability to

Fibreboard for asbestos-related property damage claims.

Our other remaining asbestos exposures are mostly

peripheral defendants, including a mix of manufacturers
In 1995, the United States District Court of the Eastern

and distributors of certain products that contain asbestos
District of Texas approved the global settlement agree-

as well as premises owners. Generally, these insureds are
ment and the trilateral agreement. The judgments

named defendants on a regional rather than a nationwide
approving these agreements were appealed to the United

basis. We continue to receive notices of new asbestos
States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. In

claims and new exposures on existing claims as more
July 1996, the Fifth Circuit Court aÇrmed the 1995

peripheral parties are drawn into litigation to replace the
judgments of the District Court. The aÇrmation of these

now defunct mines and bankrupt manufacturers.
agreements had no eÅect on the amount of loss reserves

provided for the settlement. A petition for re-hearing the
The courts have been engaged in developing guidelines

global settlement agreement before the entire Fifth
regarding coverage for asbestos claims and have begun to

Circuit Court was denied. An appeal to the United
articulate more consistent standards regarding the extent

States Supreme Court by the objectors to the global
of the obligation of insurers to provide coverage and the

settlement has been Ñled and the Supreme Court will
method of allocation of costs among insurers. However,

decide whether to hear this matter. The trilateral
we still do not know the universe of potential claims.

agreement, however, was not appealed to the United
Therefore, uncertainty remains as to our ultimate liability

States Supreme Court and is now Ñnal. As a result,
for asbestos-related claims.

management believes that the uncertainty of PaciÑc

Indemnity's exposure with respect to asbestos-related
Hazardous waste sites are another signiÑcant potential

bodily injury claims against Fibreboard has been
exposure. Under the federal ""Superfund'' law and similar

eliminated.
state statutes, when potentially responsible parties

(PRPs) fail to handle the clean-up, regulators have the

work done and then attempt to establish legal liabilitySince 1993, a California Court of Appeal has agreed, in

against the PRPs. The PRPs, with proper governmentresponse to a request by PaciÑc Indemnity, Continental

authorization in many instances, disposed of toxic materi-Casualty and Fibreboard, to delay its decisions regarding

als at a waste dump site or transported the materials toasbestos-related insurance coverage issues which are

the site. Most sites have multiple PRPs.currently before it and involve the three parties exclu-

sively, while the approval of the global settlement is

pending in court. Continental Casualty and PaciÑc Insurance policies issued to PRPs were not intended to

Indemnity have dismissed disputes against each other cover the clean-up costs of pollution and, in many cases,

which involved Fibreboard and were in litigation. did not intend to cover the pollution itself. Pollution was

not a recognized hazard at the time many of these
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policies were written. In more recent years, however, prolonged litigation of coverage issues. Primary policies

policies speciÑcally exclude such exposures. provide a limit on indemnity payments but many do not

limit defense costs. This language in the policy some-

times leads to the payment of defense costs in multiplesAs the cost of environmental clean-up continues to grow,

of the policy limits.PRPs and others have increasingly Ñled claims with their

insurance carriers. Litigation against insurers extends to

issues of liability, coverage and other policy provisions. Reserves for asbestos and toxic waste claims cannot be

estimated with traditional loss reserving techniques. We

have established case reserves and expense reserves forThere is great uncertainty involved in estimating our

costs of related litigation where suÇcient information hasliabilities related to these claims. First, the underlying

been developed to indicate the involvement of a speciÑcliabilities of the claimants are extremely diÇcult to

insurance policy. In addition, IBNR reserves have beenestimate. At any given clean-up site, the allocation of

established to cover additional exposures on both knownremediation costs among governmental authorities and

and unasserted claims. These reserves are continuallythe PRPs varies greatly. Second, diÅerent courts have

reviewed and updated. Increases in loss reserves relatingaddressed liability and coverage issues regarding pollution

to asbestos and toxic waste claims were $151 million inclaims and have reached inconsistent conclusions in their

1996, $182 million in 1995 and $115 million in 1994.interpretation of several issues. These signiÑcant uncer-

Further increases in such reserves in 1997 and futuretainties are not likely to be resolved in the near future.

years are possible as legal and factual issues concerning

these claims are clariÑed although the amounts cannot beUncertainties also remain as to the Superfund law itself,
reasonably estimated.which has generated far more litigation than it has

brought about the cleanup of hazardous waste sites.

Superfund's taxing authority expired on December 31,
Management believes that the aggregate loss reserves of

1995. Notwithstanding continued pressure by the insur-
the property and casualty subsidiaries at December 31,

ance industry and other interested parties to achieve a
1996 were adequate to cover claims for losses which had

legislative solution which would reform the liability
occurred, including both those known to us and those yet

provisions of the law, Congress did not address
to be reported. In establishing such reserves, manage-

Superfund in 1996. It is currently not possible to predict
ment considers facts currently known and the present

the direction that any reforms may take, when they may
state of the law and coverage litigation. However, given

occur or the eÅect that any changes may have on the
the expansion of coverage and liability by the courts and

insurance industry. In addition, the Superfund law does
the legislatures in the past and the possibilities of similar

not address non-Superfund toxic sites. For that reason, it
interpretations in the future, particularly as they relate to

does not cover all existing toxic waste exposures, such as
asbestos and toxic waste claims, as well as the uncer-

those involving sites that are subject to state law only.
tainty in determining what scientiÑc standards will be

Because of the large number of state sites, such sites
deemed acceptable for measuring hazardous waste site

could prove even more costly in the aggregate than
clean-up, additional increases in loss reserves may emerge

Superfund sites.
which would adversely aÅect results in future periods.

The amount cannot reasonably be estimated at the
Litigation costs remain substantial, particularly for toxic

present time.
waste claims. A substantial portion of the funds expended

to date by us has been for legal fees incurred in the
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provided more than suÇcient funds to pay losses,

operating expenses and dividends to the Corporation.

The main objectives of the investment portfolio of the

property and casualty subsidiaries are to maximize after-

tax investment income and total investment returns while

minimizing credit risks as well as to provide maximum

support to the insurance underwriting operations. Invest-

ment strategies are developed based on many factors

including underwriting results and our resulting tax

position, Öuctuations in interest rates and regulatory

requirements.

New cash available for investment was approximately

$1,215 million in 1996 compared with $495 million and

$725 million in 1995 and 1994, respectively. New cash in

1996 included $191 million received in January as a

result of the commutation of a stop loss reinsurance

agreement related to medical malpractice unpaid claims

arising from business written prior to 1985. The lower

amount in 1995 was due to the designation of $480 mil-

DividendsTaxable
Interest

Tax Exempt Interest

1996

1995

1994

1993

1992

$455

$423

$475

$507

$544

$7,767

$8,403

$8,939

$10,014

$11,191

Short
Term
Investments

Equity
Securities

Taxable
Fixed
Maturities

Tax Exempt
Fixed Maturities

1996

1995

1994

1993

1992

lion of new cash as funds held for asbestos-related

settlement. Income on these assets accrued for the

beneÑt of participants in the class settlement of asbestos-INVESTMENTS AND LIQUIDITY

related bodily injury claims against Fibreboard.Investment income after taxes increased 7% in both 1996

and 1995. Growth was primarily due to increases in In 1997, the property and casualty subsidiaries will
invested assets, which reÖected strong cash Öow from receive approximately $300 million as the net result of
operations over the period, oÅset somewhat in 1996 by the portfolio transfers of unearned premiums and loss
lower yields on new investments. reserves as of January 1, 1997 related to the termination

of the reinsurance agreements with Sun Alliance.
The eÅective tax rate on our investment income was

In 1996, we invested new cash primarily in mortgage-15.8% in 1996, 15.9% in 1995 and 15.3% in 1994. The
backed securities and tax-exempt bonds. In 1995, weeÅective tax rate increased in 1995 as the percentage of
invested new cash primarily in tax-exempt bonds. Inour investment income subject to tax increased.
1994, we invested new cash primarily in taxable bonds

Generally, premiums are received by our property and and, to a lesser extent, tax-exempt bonds. In each year,
casualty subsidiaries months or even years before losses we tried to achieve the appropriate mix in our portfolio
are paid under the policies purchased by such premiums. to balance both investment and tax strategies.
These funds are used Ñrst to make current claim and

The property and casualty subsidiaries have consistentlyexpense payments. The balance is invested to augment
invested in high quality marketable securities. Taxablethe investment income generated by the existing portfo-
bonds in our domestic portfolio comprise U.S. Treasury,lio. Historically, cash receipts from operations, consisting

of insurance premiums and investment income, have
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government agency and corporate issues. Approximately Because the plan to pursue the sale of these assets in the

90% of the taxable bonds are either backed by the near term represented a change in circumstances relating

U.S. Government or rated AA or better by Moody's or to the manner in which these assets are expected to be

Standard & Poor's. Of the tax-exempt bonds, practically used, we reassessed the recoverability of their carrying

all are rated A or better, with more than half rated value. As a result, we recorded an impairment loss of

AAA. Both taxable and tax-exempt bonds have an $255 million, or $160 million after tax, in the fourth

average maturity of approximately 9 years. Actual quarter of 1996 to reduce the carrying value of these

maturities could diÅer from contractual maturities assets to their estimated fair value.

because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay

obligations. Equity securities are high quality and readily We plan to retain approximately $380 million of

marketable. undeveloped land which we expect will be developed in

the future. In addition, we plan to retain certain

At December 31, 1996, the property and casualty commercial properties and land parcels under lease.

subsidiaries held foreign investments of $1.3 billion

supporting their international operations. Such foreign Real estate operations resulted in a loss after taxes of

investments have quality and maturity characteristics $147 million in 1996 compared with income of $6 mil-

similar to our domestic portfolio. We reduce the risks lion in 1995 and a loss of $2 million in 1994. The loss in

relating to currency Öuctuations by maintaining invest- 1996 reÖects the $160 million after tax impairment

ments in those foreign currencies in which we transact charge. Excluding this charge, real estate income after

business, with characteristics similar to the liabilities in taxes was $13 million. Results in 1996 beneÑted from the

those currencies. sale of several rental properties and a decrease in interest

expense caused by lower average interest rates. Results in

The property and casualty subsidiaries maintain suÇcient 1995 beneÑted from a land sale. Results in both years

investments in highly liquid, short-term securities at all beneÑted from increases in earnings from residential sales

times to provide for immediate cash needs and the as well as from lower provisions for possible uncollectible

Corporation maintains bank credit facilities that are mortgages receivable. In each of the last three years,

available to respond to unexpected cash demands. results were adversely aÅected by a high proportion of

interest costs being charged directly to expense rather

than being capitalized.Real Estate

In October 1996, the Corporation announced that it was

exploring the possible sale of all or a signiÑcant portion Revenues were $320 million in 1996, $288 million in

of its real estate assets. During February 1997, indications 1995 and $205 million in 1994. Revenues in 1996 and

of interest in purchasing substantially all of our commer- 1995 included higher levels of revenues from residential

cial properties were received from several parties. In development. Revenues in 1996 also included the sale of

March 1997, the Corporation announced that it had rental properties while 1995 revenues included the land

entered into an agreement with a prospective purchaser sale. Over the past several years, revenues from our

to perform due diligence in anticipation of executing a commercial real estate activities have come primarily

contract for the sale of these properties. In addition, we from ongoing income from owned properties and from

are continuing to explore the sale of our residential and

retail properties.
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management and Ñnancing activities related to previously space diminished due to an overbuilt market and

sold properties or properties held in joint ventures. corporate downsizing. While we have experienced signiÑ-

cant leasing activity in recent years and have achieved

improved rental rates on many of these buildings, aOur commercial real estate activities traditionally cen-

signiÑcant portion of our existing leases are at low markettered around acquiring suburban, multi-site land parcels

rental rates.in locations considered prime for oÇce development and

then developing the land in progressive stages. In the late

1980s, we expanded our activities to include a few Our entry into the New Jersey residential development

metropolitan oÇce building projects. We developed real market met with initial success. In 1996, we completed

estate properties ourselves rather than through third party our Ñrst townhome project containing 178 units. Our

developers. We are distinguished from most other real second project, a joint venture, is an 84 unit townhome

estate developers in that we coordinated all phases of the project which we expect to complete in 1997. At year-

development process from concept to completion. Upon end 1996, 41 units were sold. In Florida, sales continued

completion of development, the properties were either to be strong in two existing condominium projects which

owned and operated for our own account or sold to third total 385 units. At year-end 1996, all but 41 units were

parties. We directly manage virtually all of the properties sold.

which we either own or have sold and retained interests

in through secured loans. The Corporation adopted Statement of Financial

Accounting Standards (SFAS) No. 121, Accounting for

Our investment interests in joint ventures generally the Impairment of Long-Lived Assets and for Long-

consist of the ownership and lease of the underlying land Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of, in the Ñrst quarter of

and the management and operation of the buildings. We 1996. SFAS No. 121 establishes accounting standards for

have agreements with joint ventures to manage all the impairment of long-lived assets, certain identiÑable

aspects of the joint venture properties, including debt intangibles and goodwill related to those assets.

structures, tenant leasing, and building improvements and

maintenance. SFAS No. 121 requires that we analyze our individual

buildings, leased land and development sites on a

Our occupancy rate has been strong in substantially all continuing basis to determine if an impairment loss has

markets in which we operate. We have been successful occurred. Estimates are made of the revenues and

in both retaining existing tenants and securing new ones operating costs, as well as any additional costs to be

and we do not have a signiÑcant credit problem with incurred to complete development, of the property in the

tenants. During 1996, a total of 2,280,000 square feet was future through an assumed holding period, based on our

leased compared with 2,320,000 square feet in 1995 and intended use of the property. The time value of money is

2,420,000 square feet in 1994. At December 31, 1996, we not considered in assessing whether impairment has

owned or had interest in 10,091,000 square feet of oÇce occurred. If it is determined that impairment has

and industrial space. Our vacancy rate was 6% at year- occurred, measurement of such impairment is based on

end 1996 and 1995 and 7% at year-end 1994. the fair value of the assets. The $255 million write-down

of real estate assets in 1996 was made in accordance

with the provisions of SFAS No. 121. No similar write-In certain markets, renewing leases in established build-

down was recorded in 1995 or 1994.ings has been diÇcult as demand for commercial oÇce
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Loans receivable, which were issued in connection with The write-downs related to the real estate assets we plan

our joint venture activities and other property sales, are to dispose of in the near term are based on the estimated

primarily purchase money mortgages. Such loans are fair value of these assets, which reÖects the amounts we

generally collateralized by buildings and, in some cases, expect to realize from the sales. The recoverability of the

land. We continually evaluate the ultimate collectibility carrying value of the remaining real estate assets is

of such loans and establish appropriate reserves. Our assessed based on our ability to fully recover costs

valuation approach is similar to that utilized under SFAS through a future revenue stream. The process by which

No. 121, except that future cash Öows are discounted at SFAS No. 121 is applied and necessary write-downs are

the receivable interest rates. Our agreements to manage calculated assumes that these properties will be devel-

all aspects of the joint venture properties have played a oped and disposed of over a period of time. The

signiÑcant role in enabling us to control potential assumptions reÖect a continued improvement in demand

collectibility issues related to these receivables. The for oÇce space, an increase in rental rates and the ability

reserve for possible uncollectible receivables was and intent to obtain Ñnancing in order to hold and

increased by charges against income of $2 million in develop the remaining properties and protect our interests

1996, $18 million in 1995 and $29 million in 1994, over the long term. Management believes that the

principally related to loans on selected properties with carrying values of both the assets to be disposed of and

operating income at levels which may not fully meet debt the remaining assets are recoverable. However, if the

service requirements. The 1995 charge included $10 mil- assumptions related to these assets are modiÑed in the

lion from the initial application of SFAS No. 114, future, it is possible that additional losses may be

Accounting by Creditors for Impairment of a Loan, recognized.

which established new criteria for measuring impairment

of a loan. The reserve was reduced by write-downs Real estate activities have been funded with short-term
aggregating $4 million in both 1996 and 1995 and credit instruments, primarily commercial paper, and debt
$10 million in 1994 related to speciÑc loans that are issued by Chubb Capital Corporation as well as term
uncollectible. Management believes the reserve of $86 loans and mortgages. The weighted average interest cost
million at December 31, 1996 adequately reÖects the on short-term credit instruments approximated 51/2% in
current condition of the portfolio. However, if conditions 1996 compared with 6% in 1995 and 41/2% in 1994. In
in the real estate market do not improve, additional 1996, the range of interest rates for term loans was 7% to
reserves may be required. 91/2% and for mortgages the range was 5% to 12%.

In accordance with SFAS No. 107, Disclosures About

Fair Value of Financial Instruments, the fair value of It is expected that funds received from any real estate
loans receivable is estimated individually as the value of asset sales will be used substantially to reduce debt
the discounted cash Öows of the loan, subject to the currently supporting the real estate business. Cash from
estimated fair value of the underlying collateral. The fair operations combined with the ability to utilize the
value of the loans represents a point-in-time estimate that Corporation's borrowing facilities would provide suÇcient
is not relevant in predicting future earnings or cash Öows funds to repay any debt due in 1997 not otherwise
related to such loans. At December 31, 1996, the repaid.
aggregate fair value of the loans was $487 million and

the carrying value was $502 million.
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December 31, 1996, 22% of the Ñxed maturity portfolioCorporate
of our continuing operations was classiÑed as held-to-Investment income earned on corporate invested assets
maturity compared with 30% at December 31, 1995 andand interest and other expenses not allocable to the
36% at December 31, 1994.operating subsidiaries are reÖected in the corporate

segment. Corporate income after taxes was $20 million in
The unrealized appreciation or depreciation of invest-1996, $15 million in 1995 and $8 million in 1994.
ments carried at market value, which includes equity

securities and Ñxed maturities classiÑed as available-for-Investment Gains and Losses
sale, is reÖected in a separate component of shareholders'Net investment gains (losses) realized by the Corpora-
equity, net of applicable deferred income tax.tion and its property and casualty insurance subsidiaries

were as follows:
The unrealized market appreciation before tax of those

Ñxed maturities of the Corporation and its property and1996 1995 1994

casualty insurance companies carried at amortized cost(in millions)

was $130 million, $178 million and $28 million at
Equity securities $69 $ 89 $118

December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. SuchFixed maturities 11 20 (64)

unrealized appreciation was not reÖected in the consoli-
Realized investment gains before tax $80 $109 $ 54

dated Ñnancial statements.
Realized investment gains after tax $52 $ 71 $ 35

Changes in unrealized market appreciation or deprecia-

Sales of equity securities in each of the last three years tion of Ñxed maturities were due to Öuctuations in

resulted in realized investment gains due primarily to the interest rates.

signiÑcant appreciation in the United States equity

markets. In 1995 and 1994, sales of equity securities Discontinued Operations Ì Life and Health

were in part the result of the redistribution of invested Insurance

assets from equity securities to Ñxed maturities. A The Corporation entered into a deÑnitive agreement,
primary reason for the sale of Ñxed maturities in each of dated February 23, 1997, to sell Chubb Life Insurance
the last three years has been to improve our after-tax Company of America to JeÅerson-Pilot Corporation for
portfolio return without sacriÑcing quality where market $875 million in cash, subject to various closing adjust-
opportunities have existed to do so. ments and other customary conditions. The sale is

subject to regulatory approvals and is expected to be

Fixed maturities which the Corporation and its insurance completed by the end of the second quarter of 1997.

subsidiaries have the ability and intent to hold to

maturity are classiÑed as held-to-maturity. The remaining The estimated loss on the sale of the life and health
Ñxed maturities, which may be sold prior to maturity to insurance operations is $22 million, consisting of a loss
support our investment strategies, such as in response to before tax of $5 million and a tax of $17 million on the
changes in interest rates and the yield curve or to sale. The tax on the sale is due to the tax carrying value
maximize after-tax returns, are classiÑed as available-for- of these operations being lower than their carrying value
sale. Fixed maturities classiÑed as held-to-maturity are for Ñnancial statement purposes. The purchase price will
carried at amortized cost while Ñxed maturities classiÑed not be adjusted to reÖect results of operations subsequent
as available-for-sale are carried at market value. At
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to December 31, 1996. Therefore, it is expected that the yields on new investments. New cash available for

discontinued life and health insurance operations will not investment amounted to $265 million in 1996 compared

aÅect the Corporation's net income in the future. with $225 million in 1995 and $140 million in 1994. The

new cash was primarily due to increases in deposits

credited to policyholder funds.The results of the life and health insurance operations for

the three years ended December 31, 1996 were as

follows: In 1996, we reduced the portfolio of mortgage-backed

securities by approximately $100 million. Proceeds from
1996 1995 1994

the sale of these securities and new cash were invested
(in millions)

primarily in corporate bonds. In 1995, new cash was
Premiums and policy charges $562 $623 $ 836

invested primarily in mortgage-backed securities and, to a
Investment income 242 233 209

lesser extent, corporate bonds and U.S. Treasury securi-
Total revenues 804 856 1,045

ties. In 1994, new cash was invested primarily in
BeneÑts 492 549 752 mortgage-backed securities.
Operating costs and expenses 251 266 274

Income before income tax 61 41 19
The life and health subsidiaries held Ñxed maturity

Federal income tax 20 13 5
securities with a carrying value of $2.9 billion and

Income before realized investment gains 41 28 14
$2.7 billion at December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively.

Realized investment gains, net of tax 8 14 6
Corporate bonds comprised 48% and 39% of the portfolio

Income from operations 49 42 20
at year-end 1996 and 1995, respectively, and mortgage-

Loss on disposal (22) Ì Ì
backed securities comprised 38% and 47% of the

Income from discontinued operations $ 27 $ 42 $ 20
portfolio at year-end 1996 and 1995, respectively.

Approximately 90% of the mortgage-backed securities

Earnings from personal insurance were $42 million in holdings at December 31, 1996 and 1995 related to

1996 compared with $37 million in 1995 and $33 million residential mortgages consisting of government agency

in 1994. The earnings increase in 1996 was primarily due pass-through securities, government agency collateralized

to lower expense levels. Earnings in 1995 beneÑted from mortgage obligations (CMOs) and AAA rated non-

favorable mortality. Premiums and policy charges agency CMOs backed by government agency collateral

amounted to $338 million in 1996 compared with or single family home mortgages. The majority of the

$311 million in 1995 and $272 million in 1994. New CMOs are actively traded in liquid markets and market

sales of personal insurance as measured by annualized value information is readily available from broker-dealers.

premiums were $104 million in 1996 compared with The notion of impairment associated with default in

$112 million in 1995 and $97 million in 1994. paying principal is less applicable to residential CMOs.

Other risks, most notably prepayment and extension risks,
Group insurance operations resulted in losses of $1 mil-

are monitored regularly. Changes in prepayment patterns
lion in 1996, $9 million in 1995 and $19 million in 1994.

can either lengthen or shorten the expected timing of the
Premiums were $224 million in 1996 compared with

principal repayments and thus the average life and the
$312 million in 1995 and $564 million in 1994.

eÅective yield of the security. We invest primarily in

those classes of residential CMO instruments that areGross investment income increased 4% in 1996 compared

subject to less prepayment and extension risk and arewith 12% in 1995. Growth was primarily due to an

therefore less volatile than other CMO instruments.increase in invested assets, tempered in 1996 by lower
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Net investment gains realized by the life and health use a substantial portion of the proceeds from the sale of

insurance operations were as follows: the life and health insurance operations to repurchase

shares.

1996 1995 1994

(in millions) The Corporation has outstanding $90 million of

Equity securities $ 5 $11 $ 7 unsecured 83/4% notes due in 1999. In 1997 and 1998,

Fixed maturities 7 11 2 the Corporation will pay as a mandatory sinking fund an

Realized investment gains before tax $12 $22 $ 9 amount suÇcient to redeem $30 million of principal.

Realized investment gains after tax $ 8 $14 $ 6

Chubb Capital has outstanding in the Eurodollar market

$229 million of 6% exchangeable subordinated notes due
Capital Resources

in 1998. The notes are guaranteed by the Corporation
On March 1, 1996, the Board of Directors approved an

and exchangeable into its common stock. The proceeds
increase in the number of authorized shares of common

have been used to support our real estate operations.
stock of the Corporation from 300 million shares to

During 1996, the holders of $21 million of exchangeable
600 million shares. At the same time, the Board of

notes elected the available option to exchange such notes
Directors approved a two-for-one stock split payable to

into shares of common stock of the Corporation, resulting
shareholders of record as of April 19, 1996.

in the issuance of 480,464 shares of common stock.

The Corporation Ñled a shelf registration statement which
Chubb Capital has outstanding $150 million of 6% notes

the Securities and Exchange Commission declared eÅec-
due in 1998 and $100 million of 67/8% notes due in 2003.

tive in June 1995, under which up to $400 million of
The notes are unsecured and are guaranteed by the

various types of securities may be issued by the
Corporation. A substantial portion of the proceeds have

Corporation or Chubb Capital. No securities have been
been used to support our real estate operations.

issued under this registration.

The Corporation has a revolving credit agreement with a
In February 1994, the Board of Directors authorized the

group of banks that provides for unsecured borrowings of
repurchase of up to 10,000,000 shares of common stock.

up to $300 million. There have been no borrowings under
During 1994, the Corporation repurchased approximately

this agreement. The agreement terminates on July 15,
2,000,000 shares in open-market transactions at a cost of

1997 at which time any loans then outstanding become
$72 million. During 1996, the Corporation repurchased

payable. Management anticipates that a similar credit
an additional 1,700,000 shares at a cost of $83 million. In

agreement will replace this agreement. The Corporation
March 1997, the Board of Directors replaced the 1994

had additional unused lines of credit of approximately
program with a new share repurchase program, which

$140 million at December 31, 1996.
authorizes the repurchase of up to 17,500,000 shares of

common stock. It is expected that the Corporation will
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Financial Reporting
Responsibility

M
anagement is responsible for the integrity of the The Corporation engages Ernst & Young LLP as

Ñnancial information included in this annual independent auditors to audit its Ñnancial statements

report and for ascertaining that such and express their opinion thereon.  They have full access

information presents fairly the Ñnancial position and to each member of management in conducting their

operating results of the Corporation.  The accompanying audits.  Such audits are conducted in accordance with

consolidated Ñnancial statements have been prepared in generally accepted auditing standards and include a

conformity with generally accepted accounting review and evaluation of the system of internal

principles.  Such statements include informed estimates accounting controls, tests of the accounting records and

and judgments of management for those transactions other auditing procedures they consider necessary to

that are not yet complete or for which the ultimate express their opinion on the consolidated Ñnancial

eÅects cannot be precisely determined.  Financial statements.

information presented elsewhere in this annual report is
The Corporation's accounting policies and internal

consistent with that in the Ñnancial statements.
controls are under the general oversight of the Board of

The accounting systems and internal accounting controls Directors acting through its Audit Committee.  This

of the Corporation are designed to provide reasonable Committee is composed entirely of Directors who are

assurance that assets are safeguarded against losses not oÇcers or employees of the Corporation.  The

from unauthorized use or disposition, that transactions Committee meets regularly with management, the

are executed in accordance with management's internal auditors and the independent auditors to review

authorization and that the Ñnancial records are reliable the accounting principles and practices employed by the

for preparing Ñnancial statements and maintaining Corporation and to discuss auditing, internal control

accountability for assets. QualiÑed personnel and Ñnancial reporting matters.  Both the internal and

throughout the organization maintain and monitor these independent auditors have, at all times, unrestricted

internal accounting controls on an ongoing basis.  In access to the Audit Committee, without members of

addition, the Corporation's Internal Audit Department management present, to discuss the results of their

systematically reviews these controls, evaluates their audits, their evaluations of the adequacy of the

adequacy and eÅectiveness and reports thereon. Corporation's internal accounting controls and the

quality of the Corporation's Ñnancial reporting, and any

other matter that they believe should be brought to the

attention of the Committee.
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Ten Year Financial Summary
(in thousands except for per share amounts)

FOR THE YEAR 1996 1995 1994 1993
Revenues

Property and Casualty Insurance
Premiums Earned ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $4,569,256 $4,147,162 $3,776,283 $3,504,838 (a)
Investment Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 656,135 613,242 570,531 541,749

Real EstateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 319,787 287,795 204,849 160,650
Corporate Investment Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 55,425 54,445 49,405 52,706
Realized Investment Gains (Losses) ÏÏÏ 79,929 108,852 54,125 210,582

Total Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,680,532 5,211,496 4,655,193 4,470,525

Components of Net Income*
Property and Casualty Insurance
Underwriting Income (Loss) (b) ÏÏÏÏ 17,142 55,654 (7,811) (337,492)(c)
Investment Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 544,156 507,187 474,981 455,409

Real Estate Income (Loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (146,786)(e) 6,010 (f) (2,037) (2,193)
Corporate Income (Loss)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 19,652 14,809 7,661 14,357

Operating Income from
Continuing Operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 434,164 583,660 472,794 130,081

Realized Investment Gains (Losses)
from Continuing OperationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 52,029 70,752 35,124 137,283
Income from Continuing Operations Ï 486,193 654,412 507,918 267,364

Income from Discontinued OperationsÏÏÏ 26,491 42,216 20,551 76,853
Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 512,684 696,628 528,469 324,217 (g)

Dividends Declared on Common Stock ÏÏ 188,689 170,665 161,055 150,784
Change in Unrealized Appreciation or

Depreciation of Investments, Net ÏÏÏÏÏ (107,225) 470,233 (487,951) 46,534

Per Share Data**
Operating Income from

Continuing Operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $2.46 $3.30 $2.67 $ .77
Income from Continuing OperationsÏÏÏ 2.75 3.70 2.87 1.53
Income from Discontinued OperationsÏÏ .15 .23 .11 .42
Net Income(b) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.90(e) 3.93 (f) 2.98 1.84 (c)(g)
Dividends Declared ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1.08 .98 .92 .86

AT YEAR END
Total AssetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $19,938,866 $19,636,277 $17,760,969 $16,729,505
Invested Assets

Property and Casualty InsuranceÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,190,619 10,013,557 8,938,752 8,403,141
Corporate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 890,441 906,597 879,475 965,715

Unpaid ClaimsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,523,709 9,588,141 8,913,220 8,235,442
Long Term Debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,070,532 1,150,832 1,279,649 1,267,193
Total Shareholders' Equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,462,874 5,262,729 4,247,029 4,196,129

Per Common Share**ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 31.24 30.14 24.46 23.92

* The federal and foreign income tax provided for each component of income represents its allocated portion of the consolidated provision.

** Per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reÖect the two-for-one stock split eÅective April 19, 1996.

In February 1997, the Corporation entered into a deÑnitive agreement to sell its life and health insurance operations. As a result, these operations
have been classiÑed as discontinued operations.

Amounts prior to 1994 do not reÖect the accounting changes prescribed by Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 115, Accounting for
Certain Investments in Debt and Equity Securities, as restatement of prior year amounts was not permitted. The change in unrealized appreciation
or depreciation of investments for 1994 excludes the increase in unrealized appreciation, as of January 1, 1994, of $220,519,000 resulting from the
change in accounting principle.
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1992 1991 1990 1989 1988 1987

$3,163,288 $3,037,168 $2,836,135 $2,693,553 $2,705,560 $2,615,866
501,140 476,984 463,413 426,267 364,126 266,230
149,945 140,957 174,846 221,338 155,170 143,381
57,176 46,400 39,555 25,167 17,806 17,531

174,061 61,089 39,619 40,147 (19,647) (16,088)
4,045,610 3,762,598 3,553,568 3,406,472 3,223,015 3,026,920

(15,352) 18,594 20,709 (d) (25,040) 15,818 62,394
422,755 397,595 371,351 330,096 290,647 226,546
10,050 25,007 40,015 42,021 40,018 36,079
19,794 16,325 14,760 705 (5,357) (4,229)

437,247 457,521 446,835 347,782 341,126 320,790

114,861 40,289 25,819 26,447 (14,048) (9,388)
552,108 497,810 472,654 374,229 327,078 311,402
64,991 54,174 49,455 46,588 32,547 18,658

617,099 551,984 522,109 420,817 359,625 330,060

139,612 127,757 109,136 96,515 87,766 71,443

(82,082) 12,163 (19,425) 70,330 29,815 12,294

$2.48 $2.62 $2.60 $2.04 $2.03 $1.93
3.12 2.85 2.75 2.19 1.95 1.88
.36 .31 .28 .27 .19 .11

3.48 3.16 3.03 (d) 2.46 2.14 1.99
.80 .74 .66 .58 .54 .44¥

$15,197,641 $13,885,882 $12,347,786 $11,390,374 $9,699,414 $8,615,658

7,767,462 7,086,572 6,297,825 5,793,656 5,153,027 4,519,268
955,828 840,291 688,380 647,817 366,237 256,397

7,220,919 6,591,305 6,016,396 5,605,006 4,585,848 3,888,485
1,065,604 1,045,776 812,573 604,156 353,684 315,620
3,954,402 3,541,605 2,882,639 2,603,739 2,238,447 1,937,033

22.59 20.37 17.60 15.42 13.77 11.93

(a) Premiums earned have been increased by a $125,000,000 return premium to the Corporation's property and casualty insurance subsidiaries
related to the commutation of a medical malpractice reinsurance agreement.

(b) Net income has been increased by tax beneÑts of $6,400,000 or $.04 per share in 1992, $7,200,000 or $.04 per share in 1991, $10,800,000 or
$.06 per share in 1990, $19,200,000 or $.11 per share in 1989, $20,400,000 or $.12 per share in 1988 and $28,800,000 or $.17 per share in 1987
related to the exclusion from taxable income of a portion of the ""fresh start'' discount on property and casualty unpaid claims as a result of the
Tax Reform Act of 1986.

(c) Net income has been reduced by a net charge of $357,500,000 or $1.97 per share for the after-tax eÅects of a $675,000,000 increase in unpaid
claims related to an agreement for the settlement of asbestos-related litigation and the $125,000,000 return premium related to the
commutation of a medical malpractice reinsurance agreement.

(d) Net income has been increased by the one-time beneÑt of a $14,000,000 or $.08 per share elimination of deferred income taxes related to
estimated property and casualty salvage and subrogation recoverable as a result of the Revenue Reconciliation Act of 1990.

(e) Net income has been reduced by a net charge of $160,000,000 or $.89 per share for the after-tax eÅect of a $255,000,000 write-down of the
carrying value of certain real estate assets to their estimated fair value.

(f) Net income has been reduced by a charge of $6,500,000 or $.04 per share for the after-tax eÅect of a $10,000,000 increase to the allowance for
uncollectible receivables resulting from the initial application of Statement of Financial Accounting Standards No. 114, Accounting by
Creditors for Impairment of a Loan.

(g) Net income has been reduced by a one-time charge of $20,000,000 or $.11 per share for the cumulative eÅect of changes in accounting
principles resulting from the Corporation's adoption of Statements of Financial Accounting Standards No. 106, Employers' Accounting for
Postretirement BeneÑts Other Than Pensions, and No. 109, Accounting for Income Taxes. Income before the cumulative eÅect of changes in
accounting principles was $344,217,000 or $1.95 per share.
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The Chubb Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Income

In Thousands
Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994Revenues

Premiums Earned (Note 13) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $4,569,256 $4,147,162 $3,776,283

Investment Income (Note 4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 711,560 667,687 619,936

Real Estate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 319,787 287,795 204,849

Realized Investment Gains (Note 4)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79,929 108,852 54,125

TOTAL REVENUES ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,680,532 5,211,496 4,655,193

Claims and Expenses

Insurance Claims (Notes 13 and 14)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,010,755 2,669,981 2,519,359

Amortization of Deferred Policy Acquisition
Costs (Note 6)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,237,968 1,120,943 1,041,245

Other Insurance Operating Costs and Expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 290,191 262,084 223,990

Real Estate Cost of Sales and Expenses (Note 5)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 555,642 280,099 210,799

Investment ExpensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,436 11,887 11,617

Corporate ExpensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26,616 29,504 36,877

TOTAL CLAIMS AND EXPENSES ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,133,608 4,374,498 4,043,887

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS BEFORE
FEDERAL AND FOREIGN INCOME TAX ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 546,924 836,998 611,306

Federal and Foreign Income Tax (Note 9)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 60,731 182,586 103,388

INCOME FROM CONTINUING OPERATIONS ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 486,193 654,412 507,918

Discontinued Operations, Net of Tax (Note 3)

Income from OperationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 48,491 42,216 20,551

Loss on Disposal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (22,000) Ì Ì

INCOME FROM DISCONTINUED OPERATIONS ÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26,491 42,216 20,551

NET INCOME ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 512,684 $ 696,628 $ 528,469

Per Share Data (Notes 1 and 10)

Income from Continuing OperationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.75 $ 3.70 $ 2.87

Income from Discontinued Operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ .15 .23 .11

Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2.90 $ 3.93 $ 2.98

See accompanying notes.
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The Chubb Corporation
Consolidated Balance Sheets

In Thousands
December 31

1996 1995Assets
Invested Assets (Note 4)

Short Term Investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 275,909 $ 429,217
Fixed Maturities

Held-to-Maturity Ì Tax Exempt (market $2,573,356 and
$3,003,686)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,443,595 2,825,686

Available-for-Sale
Tax Exempt (cost $4,415,101 and $3,607,925) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,622,556 3,860,630
Taxable (cost $4,038,748 and $3,128,739) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,092,697 3,257,004

Equity Securities (cost $540,522 and $459,087) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 646,303 547,617

TOTAL INVESTED ASSETSÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,081,060 10,920,154

Cash ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,657 11,950
Accrued Investment IncomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 195,346 199,228
Premiums Receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 984,906 860,390
Reinsurance Recoverable on Unpaid Claims (Note 13)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,767,885 1,973,666
Prepaid Reinsurance Premiums ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 326,682 484,358
Funds Held for Asbestos-Related Settlement (Note 14) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 599,859 1,038,149
Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs (Note 6) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 601,198 558,676
Real Estate Assets (Notes 5 and 8) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,603,975 1,742,580
Deferred Income Tax (Note 9)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 365,591 230,146
Other AssetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 564,299 772,335
Net Assets of Discontinued Operations (Note 3) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 843,408 844,645

TOTAL ASSETS ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $19,938,866 $19,636,277

Liabilities
Unpaid Claims (Note 14) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 9,523,709 $ 9,588,141
Unearned Premiums ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,617,503 2,570,682
Short Term Debt (Note 8) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 189,450 151,600
Long Term Debt (Note 8)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,070,532 1,150,832
Dividend Payable to Shareholders ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 47,210 42,741
Accrued Expenses and Other Liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,027,588 869,552

TOTAL LIABILITIES ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,475,992 14,373,548

Commitments and Contingent Liabilities (Notes 12 and 14)

Shareholders' Equity (Notes 10 and 17)
Preferred Stock Ì Authorized 4,000,000 Shares;

$1 Par Value; Issued Ì None ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì
Common Stock Ì Authorized 600,000,000 Shares;

$1 Par Value; Issued 176,084,173 and 87,819,355 SharesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 176,084 87,819
Paid-In Surplus ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 695,762 778,239
Retained Earnings ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,530,512 4,206,517
Foreign Currency Translation Losses, Net of Income Tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (15,678) (3,433)
Unrealized Appreciation of Investments, Net (Note 4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 238,669 345,894
Receivable from Employee Stock Ownership Plan ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (106,261) (114,998)
Treasury Stock, at Cost Ì 1,223,182 and 518,468 Shares ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (56,214) (37,309)

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 5,462,874 5,262,729

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITY ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $19,938,866 $19,636,277

See accompanying notes.
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The Chubb Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Shareholders' Equity

In Thousands
Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

Preferred Stock

Balance, Beginning and End of Year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ Ì $ Ì $ Ì

Common Stock

Balance, Beginning of Year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 87,819 87,798 87,709
Two-for-One Stock Split ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 87,819 Ì Ì
Shares Issued upon Exchange of Long Term Debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 481 Ì Ì
Share Activity under Option and Incentive PlansÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (35) 21 89

Balance, End of YearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 176,084 87,819 87,798

Paid-In Surplus

Balance, Beginning of Year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 778,239 786,596 782,186
Two-for-One Stock Split ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (87,819) Ì Ì
Exchange of Long Term Debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 20,844 Ì Ì
Additions (Reductions) Resulting from Share Activity

under Option and Incentive PlansÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (15,502) (8,357) 4,410

Balance, End of YearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 695,762 778,239 786,596

Retained Earnings

Balance, Beginning of Year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,206,517 3,680,554 3,313,140
Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 512,684 696,628 528,469
Dividends Declared (per share $1.08, $.98 and $.92) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (188,689) (170,665) (161,055)

Balance, End of YearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,530,512 4,206,517 3,680,554

Foreign Currency Translation Gains (Losses)

Balance, Beginning of Year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,433) 9,766 327
Change During Year, Net of Income Tax (Note 16) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (12,245) (13,199) 9,439

Balance, End of YearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (15,678) (3,433) 9,766

Unrealized Appreciation (Depreciation) of Investments

Balance, Beginning of Year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 345,894 (124,339) 143,093
Cumulative EÅect, as of January 1, 1994, of Change in

Accounting Principle, Net (Note 2) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 220,519
Change During Year, Net (Note 4) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (107,225) 470,233 (487,951)

Balance, End of YearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 238,669 345,894 (124,339)

Receivable from Employee Stock Ownership Plan

Balance, Beginning of Year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (114,998) (122,999) (130,326)
Principal RepaymentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,737 8,001 7,327

Balance, End of YearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (106,261) (114,998) (122,999)

Treasury Stock, at Cost

Balance, Beginning of Year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (37,309) (70,347) Ì
Repurchase of SharesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (82,528) Ì (72,052)
Share Activity under Option and Incentive PlansÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 63,623 33,038 Ì
Shares Issued Ì OtherÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 1,705

Balance, End of YearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (56,214) (37,309) (70,347)

TOTAL SHAREHOLDERS' EQUITYÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $5,462,874 $5,262,729 $4,247,029

See accompanying notes.
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The Chubb Corporation
Consolidated Statements of Cash Flows

In Thousands
Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

Cash Flows from Operating Activities
Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 512,684 $ 696,628 $ 528,469
Adjustments to Reconcile Net Income to Net Cash
Provided by Operating Activities
Increase in Unpaid Claims, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 141,349 681,595 482,834
Increase in Unearned Premiums, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 204,497 158,830 174,926
Increase in Premiums Receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (124,516) (96,258) (72,196)
Decrease (Increase) in Funds Held for

Asbestos-Related Settlement ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 438,290 (480,008) (19,969)
Decrease (Increase) in Medical Malpractice

Reinsurance Related Receivable ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 191,194 (66,194) Ì
Increase in Deferred Policy Acquisition CostsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (42,522) (29,223) (39,751)
Deferred Income Tax Credit ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (117,573) (16,830) (16,287)
Write-down of Real Estate Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 255,000 Ì Ì
DepreciationÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 58,991 53,535 44,157
Realized Investment Gains ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (79,929) (108,852) (54,125)
Other, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 193,376 46,808 (29,576)
Discontinued Operations, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (79,451) (125,739) (101,807)

NET CASH PROVIDED BY OPERATING
ACTIVITIESÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,551,390 714,292 896,675

Cash Flows from Investing Activities
Proceeds from Sales of Fixed Maturities Ì
Available-for-Sale ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,430,532 3,953,901 2,723,317

Proceeds from Maturities of Fixed MaturitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 762,885 651,385 401,469
Proceeds from Sales of Equity SecuritiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 382,917 302,311 567,170
Purchases of Fixed Maturities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5,520,511) (5,466,024) (3,814,935)
Purchases of Equity Securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (395,198) (145,056) (358,734)
Decrease (Increase) in Short Term Investments, NetÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 153,308 269,263 (221,941)
Additions to Real Estate Assets, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (81,963) (34,305) (43,216)
Purchases of Fixed Assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (58,686) (68,435) (62,830)
Other, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (53,147) (23,940) (17,303)
Discontinued Operations, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (249,152) (216,579) (133,027)

NET CASH USED IN INVESTING ACTIVITIES ÏÏ (1,629,015) (777,479) (960,030)

Cash Flows from Financing Activities
Proceeds from Issuance of Long Term Debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 85,989 173,900 33,225
Repayment of Long Term Debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (145,629) (302,717) (20,769)
Increase in Short Term Debt, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 37,850 34,260 53,800
Dividends Paid to ShareholdersÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (184,220) (167,959) (158,735)
Repurchase of Shares ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (82,528) Ì (72,052)
Other, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 52,749 27,944 10,608
Discontinued Operations, Net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 306,121 304,110 218,291

NET CASH PROVIDED BY FINANCING
ACTIVITIESÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 70,332 69,538 64,368

Net Increase (Decrease) in Cash ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (7,293) 6,351 1,013
Cash at Beginning of YearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,950 5,599 4,586

CASH AT END OF YEARÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,657 $ 11,950 $ 5,599

Supplemental Cash Flow Information
Cash Paid During the Year from Continuing Operations for

Interest (Net of Amounts Capitalized) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 77,728 $ 83,461 $ 75,840
Federal and Foreign Income TaxesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 163,265 191,989 121,610

See accompanying notes.
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Notes to Consolidated Financial Statements

(1) Summary of SigniÑcant Accounting Policies Realized gains and losses on the sale of investments are
determined on the basis of the cost of the speciÑc invest-

(a) Basis of Presentation ments sold and are credited or charged to income. Un-
realized appreciation or depreciation of investmentsThe accompanying consolidated Ñnancial statements
carried at market value, net of applicable deferred incomehave been prepared in accordance with generally accepted
tax, is excluded from income and credited or chargedaccounting principles and include the accounts of The
directly to a separate component of shareholders' equity.Chubb Corporation (Corporation) and its subsidiaries.

SigniÑcant intercompany transactions have been elimi- (c) Premium Revenues and Related Expenses
nated in consolidation.

Property and casualty insurance premiums are earned
The consolidated Ñnancial statements reÖect estimates on a monthly pro rata basis over the terms of the policies.

and judgments made by management that aÅect the Revenues include estimates of audit premiums and pre-
reported amounts of assets and liabilities and disclosure of miums on retrospectively rated policies. Unearned premi-
contingent assets and liabilities at the date of the Ñnancial ums represent the portion of premiums written applicable
statements and the reported amounts of revenues and to the unexpired terms of policies in force. Acquisition
expenses during the reporting period. Actual results could costs, consisting of commissions, premium taxes and
diÅer from those estimates. other costs that vary with and are primarily related to the

production of business, are deferred by major product
The Corporation is a holding company with subsidiaries

groups and amortized over the period in which the related
principally engaged in two industries: property and casu-

premiums are earned.
alty insurance and real estate.

Deferred policy acquisition costs are reviewed to deter-
On February 23, 1997, the Corporation entered into a mine that they do not exceed recoverable amounts, after

deÑnitive agreement to sell its life and health insurance considering anticipated investment income.
subsidiaries. Accordingly, the life and health insurance
subsidiaries have been classiÑed as discontinued opera- (d) Unpaid Claims
tions in the consolidated Ñnancial statements (see

Liabilities for unpaid claims include the accumulation
Note (3)).

of individual case estimates for claims reported and esti-
mates of unreported claims and claim settlementCertain other amounts in the consolidated Ñnancial
expenses less estimates of anticipated salvage and subro-statements for prior years have been reclassiÑed to con-
gation recoveries. Estimates are based upon past claimform with the 1996 presentation. Also, share and per
experience modiÑed for current trends as well as prevail-share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reÖect
ing economic, legal and social conditions. Such estimatesthe two-for-one stock split paid to shareholders of record
are continually reviewed and updated. Any resulting ad-as of April 19, 1996.
justments are reÖected in current operating results.

(b) Investments
(e) Reinsurance

Short term investments, which have an original matur-
In the ordinary course of business, the Corporation'sity of one year or less, are carried at amortized cost.

insurance subsidiaries assume and cede reinsurance with
Fixed maturities, which include bonds and redeemable other insurance companies and are members of various

preferred stocks, are purchased to support the investment pools and associations. These arrangements provide
strategies of the Corporation and its insurance subsidiaries. greater diversiÑcation of business and minimize the maxi-
These strategies are developed based on many factors mum net loss potential arising from large risks. A large
including rate of return, maturity, credit risk, tax considera- portion of the reinsurance is eÅected under contracts
tions and regulatory requirements. Those fixed maturities known as treaties and in some instances by negotiation on
which the Corporation and its insurance subsidiaries have individual risks. Certain of these arrangements consist of
the ability and positive intent to hold to maturity are excess of loss and catastrophe contracts which protect
classified as held-to-maturity and carried at amortized against losses over stipulated amounts arising from any
cost. Fixed maturities which may be sold prior to maturity one occurrence or event. Ceded reinsurance contracts do
to support the investment strategies of the Corporation and not relieve the Corporation's insurance subsidiaries of
its insurance subsidiaries are classified as available-for-sale their obligation to the policyholders.
and carried at market value as of the balance sheet date.

Prepaid reinsurance premiums represent the portion of
Equity securities, which include common stocks and property and casualty insurance premiums ceded to rein-

non-redeemable preferred stocks, are carried at market surers applicable to the unexpired terms of the reinsur-
value as of the balance sheet date. ance contracts in force.
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Commissions received related to reinsurance premiums Rental revenues are recognized on a straight-line basis
ceded are considered in determining net acquisition costs over the term of the lease. ProÑts on land, townhome unit
eligible for deferral. and commercial building sales are recognized at closing,

subject to compliance with applicable accounting guide-Reinsurance recoverable on unpaid claims and policy
lines. ProÑts on high-rise condominium unit sales areliabilities represent estimates of the portion of such liabili-
recognized using the percentage of completion method,ties that will be recovered from reinsurers. Amounts
subject to achievement of a minimum level of unit sales.recoverable from reinsurers are recognized as assets at the
ProÑts on construction contracts are recognized using thesame time and in a manner consistent with the liabilities
percentage of completion method.associated with the reinsured policies.

(h) Property and Equipment(f) Funds Held for Asbestos-Related Settlement
Property and equipment used in operations are carriedFunds held for asbestos-related settlement are assets of

at cost less accumulated depreciation. Depreciation isthe Corporation's property and casualty insurance subsidi-
calculated using the straight-line method over the esti-aries that accrue income for the beneÑt of participants in
mated useful lives of the assets.the class settlement of asbestos-related bodily injury

claims against Fibreboard Corporation (see Note (14)).
(i) Stock-based Compensation

(g) Real Estate The intrinsic value method of accounting is used for
stock-based compensation plans. Under the intrinsicReal estate properties are carried at cost, net of write-
value method, compensation cost is measured as thedowns for impairment. Real estate taxes, interest and
excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the stock atother carrying costs incurred prior to completion of the
the grant date over the amount an employee must pay toassets for their intended use are capitalized. Also, costs
acquire the stock.incurred during the initial leasing of income producing

properties are capitalized until the project is substantially
(j) Income Taxescomplete, subject to a maximum time period subsequent

The Corporation and its domestic subsidiaries Ñle ato completion of major construction activity.
consolidated federal income tax return.EÅective January 1, 1996, the Corporation adopted

Statement of Financial Accounting Standards (SFAS) Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are recog-
No. 121, Accounting for the Impairment of Long-Lived nized for the expected future tax eÅects attributable to
Assets and for Long-Lived Assets to Be Disposed Of. temporary diÅerences between the Ñnancial reporting and
SFAS No. 121 establishes accounting standards for the tax bases of assets and liabilities, based on enacted tax
impairment of long-lived assets, certain identiÑable in- rates and other provisions of tax law. The eÅect of a
tangibles and goodwill related to those assets. Under change in tax laws or rates is recognized in income in the
SFAS No. 121, real estate properties are reviewed for period in which such change is enacted.
impairment whenever events or circumstances indicate U. S. federal income taxes are accrued on undistributed
that the carrying value of such properties may not be earnings of foreign subsidiaries.
recoverable. In performing the review for recoverability of
carrying value, estimates are made of the future undis- (k) Foreign Exchange
counted cash Öows from each of the properties during the Assets and liabilities relating to foreign operations are
period the property will be held and upon its eventual translated into U. S. dollars using current exchange rates;
disposition. If the expected future undiscounted cash revenues and expenses are translated into U. S. dollars
Öows are less than the carrying value of such properties, using the average exchange rates for each year.
an impairment loss is recognized, resulting in a write-

The functional currency of most foreign operations isdown of the carrying value of the property to an amount
the currency of the local operating environment sincebased on its fair value.
their business is primarily transacted in such local curren-Depreciation of real estate properties is calculated
cies. Translation gains and losses, net of applicable in-using the straight-line method over the estimated useful
come tax, are excluded from income and accumulated inlives of the properties.
a separate component of shareholders' equity.

Real estate mortgages and notes receivable are carried
at unpaid principal balances less an allowance for uncol-
lectible amounts. A loan is considered impaired when it is
probable that all principal and interest amounts will not
be collected according to the contractual terms of the loan
agreement. An allowance for uncollectible amounts is
established to the extent that the unpaid principal balance
is greater than the discounted future cash Öows of the
loan, subject to the estimated fair value of the underlying
collateral. These cash Öows are discounted at the loan's
eÅective interest rate.
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(l) Earnings Per Share (iv) Fair values of real estate mortgages and notes
receivable are estimated individually as the value of theEarnings per share amounts are based on the weighted
discounted future cash Öows of the loan, subject to theaverage number of common and common equivalent
estimated fair value of the underlying collateral. Theshares outstanding during each year, which were
cash Öows are discounted at rates based on a U.S.180,195,310, 179,884,682 and 180,899,154 in 1996, 1995
Treasury security with a maturity similar to the loan,and 1994, respectively. The 6% guaranteed exchangeable
adjusted for credit risk.subordinated notes are considered to be common

equivalent shares. The computation assumes the addition (v) The carrying value of short term debt approxi-
to income of the after-tax interest expense applicable to mates fair value due to the short maturities of this debt.
such notes. The allocated and unallocated shares held by

(vi) Long term debt consists of term loans, mortgages
the Corporation's Employee Stock Ownership Plan are

payable and long term notes. Fair values of term loans
considered common shares outstanding.

approximate the carrying values because such loans con-
sist primarily of variable-rate debt that reprices frequently.(m) Cash Flow Information
Fair values of mortgages payable are estimated using

In the statement of cash Öows, short term investments discounted cash flow analyses. Fair values of long term
are not considered to be cash equivalents. The eÅect of notes are based on prices quoted by dealers.
changes in foreign exchange rates on cash balances was

The carrying values and fair values of Ñnancial instru-immaterial.
ments of continuing operations were as follows:

In 1996, $20,660,000 of the 6% exchangeable subordi-
December 31nated notes were exchanged for 480,464 shares of com-

1996 1995mon stock of the Corporation. This noncash transaction
Carrying Fair Carrying Fairhas been excluded from the consolidated statements of Value Value Value Value

cash Öows. (in thousands)
Assets

(n) Fair Values of Financial Instruments Invested assets
Short term investments ÏÏÏÏÏ $ 275,909 $ 275,909 $ 429,217 $ 429,217Fair values of Ñnancial instruments are based on quoted
Fixed maturities (Note 4)market prices where available. Fair values of Ñnancial

Held-to-maturityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,443,595 2,573,356 2,825,686 3,003,686
instruments for which quoted market prices are not avail- Available-for-sale ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,715,253 8,715,253 7,117,634 7,117,634
able are based on estimates using present value or other Equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 646,303 646,303 547,617 547,617
valuation techniques. Those techniques are signiÑcantly Real estate mortgages and
aÅected by the assumptions used, including the discount notes receivable (Note 5) ÏÏÏ 502,374 487,200 409,564 405,400
rates and the estimated amounts and timing of future cash Liabilities
Öows. Accordingly, the derived fair value estimates can- Short term debt (Note 8) ÏÏÏÏÏ 189,450 189,450 151,600 151,600

Long term debt (Note 8) ÏÏÏÏÏ 1,070,532 1,128,500 1,150,832 1,214,422not be substantiated by comparison to independent mar-
kets and are not necessarily indicative of the amounts that

(2) Adoption of New Accounting Pronouncementscould be realized in immediate settlement of the instru-
ment. Certain Ñnancial instruments, particularly insur- EÅective January 1, 1995, the Corporation adopted
ance contracts, are excluded from fair value disclosure SFAS No. 114, Accounting by Creditors for Impairment
requirements.

of a Loan. Under SFAS No. 114, a loan is considered
The methods and assumptions used to estimate the fair impaired and a valuation allowance is established when it

value of Ñnancial instruments are as follows: is probable that a creditor will be unable to collect all
principal and interest amounts due according to the con-(i) The carrying value of short term investments
tractual terms of the loan agreement. SFAS No. 114approximates fair value due to the short maturities of
requires creditors to measure impairment of a loan basedthese investments.
on the present value of expected future cash Öows dis-

(ii) Fair values of Ñxed maturities with active mar- counted at the loan's eÅective interest rate or, as a
kets are based on quoted market prices. For Ñxed practical expedient, based on the market price of the loan
maturities that trade in less active markets, fair values or the fair value of the collateral if the loan is collateral
are obtained from independent pricing services. Fair dependent. Prior to 1995, the Corporation measured im-
values of Ñxed maturities are principally a function of pairment of a loan based on undiscounted expected future
current interest rates. Care should be used in evaluating cash Öows. SFAS No. 114 may not be retroactively
the signiÑcance of these estimated market values. applied to prior years' Ñnancial statements. The initial

(iii) Fair values of equity securities are based on application of SFAS No. 114 resulted in an increase of
quoted market prices. $10,000,000 to the allowance for uncollectible receivables.
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EÅective January 1, 1994, the Corporation adopted The results of the discontinued operations were as
SFAS No. 115, Accounting for Certain Investments in follows:

Years Ended December 31Debt and Equity Securities. Similar to the Corporation's
1996 1995 1994previous accounting policy for investments in Ñxed matu-

(in thousands)rities and equity securities, SFAS No. 115 provides that Revenues
the accounting for such securities depends on their classi- Premiums earned and policy

charges ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $562,058 $622,937 $ 836,293Ñcation as either held-to-maturity, available-for-sale or
Investment income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 242,226 232,950 208,745

trading. However, SFAS No. 115 establishes more strin- Realized investment gains ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,587 21,808 9,304

gent criteria for classifying Ñxed maturities as held-to- Total revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 816,871 877,695 1,054,342

maturity. SFAS No. 115 also requires that Ñxed maturi- BeneÑts, claims and expenses
Insurance claims and policyholderties classiÑed as available-for-sale be carried at market

beneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 492,467 549,219 752,205value, with unrealized appreciation or depreciation ex-
Amortization of deferred policy

cluded from income and credited or charged directly to a acquisition costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 97,127 77,457 72,250
Other insurance costs and expenses 152,042 185,086 199,399separate component of shareholders' equity. Prior to 1994,
Investment expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,301 2,860 2,430

such Ñxed maturities were carried at the lower of the
Total beneÑts, claims and

aggregate amortized cost or market value. In conjunction expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 743,937 814,622 1,026,284

with the Corporation's adoption of SFAS No. 115, de- Income before federal income
tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 72,934 63,073 28,058ferred policy acquisition costs related to universal life and

Federal income tax (credit)other interest-sensitive life insurance contracts were ad-
Current ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30,415 29,050 9,808

justed to reÖect the eÅects that would have been recog- Deferred ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (5,972) (8,193) (2,301)

nized had the unrealized gains relating to investments 24,443 20,857 7,507

classiÑed as available-for-sale actually been realized, with Income from operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 48,491 $ 42,216 $ 20,551

a corresponding charge directly to the separate compo-
The assets and liabilities of the discontinued operationsnent of shareholders' equity. SFAS No. 115 may not be

were as follows:retroactively applied to prior years' Ñnancial statements.
December 31The cumulative eÅect on shareholders' equity, as of

1996 1995January 1, 1994, of the change in accounting principle
(in thousands)

was as follows: Assets
(in thousands) Invested assets

Unrealized appreciation of Ñxed maturities considered Short term investmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 48,333 $ 55,222
available-for-sale ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $399,980 Fixed maturities

Adjustment to deferred policy acquisition costsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (60,720) Held-to-maturity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 381,230 403,539
Available-for-saleÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,498,281 2,255,951339,260

Equity securitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30,681 40,208Deferred income tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 118,741
Policy and mortgage loans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 226,802 212,339

Increase in shareholders' equity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $220,519
3,185,327 2,967,259

Accrued investment income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 52,473 46,091
Deferred policy acquisition costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 679,113 612,709

Adoption of SFAS No. 115 has not had an impact on net Other assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 814,906 649,306
income nor will it in future years. Total assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,731,819 4,275,365

Liabilities
Life and health policy liabilitiesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,230,656 2,943,138(3) Discontinued Operations
Short term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 50,500 36,000
Deferred income tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 44,095 70,472The Corporation entered into a deÑnitive agreement, Accrued expenses and other liabilities ÏÏÏÏ 563,160 381,110

dated February 23, 1997, to sell Chubb Life Insurance Total liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,888,411 3,430,720
Company of America and its subsidiaries to JeÅerson- Net assets of discontinued operationsÏÏÏ $ 843,408 $ 844,645
Pilot Corporation for $875,000,000 in cash, subject to
various closing adjustments and other customary condi- In addition to the applicable accounting policies for
tions. The sale is subject to regulatory approvals and is continuing operations disclosed in Note (1), the following
expected to be completed by the end of the second accounting policies relate to discontinued operations:
quarter of 1997.

(a) Premium Revenues and Related Expenses
The estimated loss on the sale of the life and health

Receipts from universal life and other interest-sensitiveinsurance subsidiaries is $22,000,000 consisting of a loss
life insurance contracts are not reported as revenues, butbefore tax of $5,000,000 and a tax of $17,000,000 on the
established as policyholder account balances. Revenuessale. The tax on the sale is due to the tax carrying value of
for these contracts consist of policy charges assessedthese subsidiaries being lower than their carrying value for
against the policyholder account balances for the cost ofÑnancial statement purposes. The purchase price will not
insurance, policy administration and surrenders. BeneÑtsbe adjusted to reÖect results of operations subsequent to
charged against income include claims incurred in excessDecember 31, 1996. Therefore, it is expected that the
of the related policyholder account balances and interestdiscontinued life and health insurance operations will not

aÅect the Corporation's net income in the future. credited to the policyholder account balances.
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Premiums for traditional life insurance contracts under (4) Invested Assets and Related Income
which the premiums and beneÑts are Ñxed and guaran- (a) The sources of net investment income from con-
teed are recognized as revenues when due. BeneÑts and tinuing operations were as follows:
expenses are provided against such revenues so as to

Years Ended December 31recognize proÑts over the estimated lives of the contracts.
1996 1995 1994

Certain costs of acquiring life insurance contracts, (in thousands)
principally commissions, underwriting costs and certain Fixed maturities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $669,715 $604,312 $555,278

Equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,977 12,292 22,070variable agency costs, are deferred. Deferred policy acqui-
Short term investments ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 23,889 35,045 25,992

sition costs for universal life and other interest-sensitive Other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,979 16,038 16,596
life insurance contracts are amortized over the lives of the Gross investment incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 711,560 667,687 619,936

Investment expensesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 12,436 11,887 11,617contracts in relation to the present value of estimated
Net investment income fromgross proÑts expected to be realized. Deferred policy

continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $699,124 $655,800 $608,319
acquisition costs related to such contracts are adjusted to
reÖect the eÅects that unrealized gains or losses on

(b) Realized investment gains and losses from continuinginvestments classiÑed as available-for-sale would have
operations were as follows:had on the present value of estimated gross proÑts had

Years Ended December 31such gains or losses actually been realized. This adjust-
1996 1995 1994ment is excluded from income and charged or credited

(in thousands)directly to the unrealized appreciation or depreciation of Gross realized investment gains
Fixed maturities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 56,492 $ 66,763 $ 62,636investments component of shareholders' equity, net of
Equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 75,566 95,379 130,129

applicable deferred income tax. Deferred policy acquisi-
132,058 162,142 192,765

tion costs for traditional life insurance contracts are amor- Gross realized investment losses
Fixed maturities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45,717 46,520 126,965tized over the premium payment period of the related
Equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,412 6,770 11,675

contracts using assumptions consistent with those used in
52,129 53,290 138,640

computing policy liabilities.
Realized investment gains ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 79,929 108,852 54,125
Income tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 27,900 38,100 19,001(b) Policy Liabilities

Realized investment gains from
continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 52,029 $ 70,752 $ 35,124Liabilities for universal life and other interest-sensitive

life insurance contracts represent the policyholder ac-
(c) The components of unrealized appreciation of in-count balances before surrender charges. Interest credit-

vestments carried at market value were as follows:ing rates ranged from 4% to 6∑% in 1996.
December 31Liabilities for traditional life insurance contracts consist

1996 1995of future policy beneÑts which are computed by the net
(in thousands)Continuing operationslevel premium method based upon estimated future in-

Equity securities
vestment yield, expected mortality and estimated with- Gross unrealized appreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $114,940 $ 99,481

Gross unrealized depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 9,159 10,951drawals. Assumptions generally vary by plan, age at issue
105,781 88,530

and year of issue. Interest rate assumptions ranged from
Fixed maturities

3% to 9% in 1996. Mortality is calculated principally on Gross unrealized appreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 297,045 393,521
Gross unrealized depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 35,641 12,551an experience multiple applied to select and ultimate

261,404 380,970
tables in common usage in the industry. Estimated with-

367,185 469,500
drawals are determined principally based on industry Deferred income tax liabilityÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 128,516 164,326

238,669 305,174tables.
Discontinued operations, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì 40,720

(c) Goodwill
$238,669 $345,894

Goodwill, which represents the excess of the purchase
price over the fair value of net assets of subsidiaries
acquired, is amortized using the straight-line method over
periods not exceeding 40 years. Total unamortized good-
will included in other assets of the discontinued opera-
tions was $63,196,000 and $65,382,000 at December 31,
1996 and 1995, respectively.
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The change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation of investments carried at market value was as follows:
Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

(in thousands)
Continuing operations

Change in unrealized appreciation of equity securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 17,251 $ 60,878 $(178,267)
Change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation of Ñxed maturities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (119,566) 499,053 (418,668)

(102,315) 559,931 (596,935)
Deferred income tax (credit)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (35,810) 195,976 (208,927)
Increase (decrease) in valuation allowance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì (31,651) 31,651

Change in unrealized appreciation or depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (66,505) 395,606 (419,659)

Discontinued operations, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (40,720) 74,627 (68,292)

(107,225) 470,233 (487,951)
Cumulative eÅect, as of January 1, 1994, of change in accounting principle, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 220,519

$(107,225) $470,233 $(267,432)

The unrealized appreciation or depreciation of Ñxed maturities carried at amortized cost is not reÖected in the Ñnancial
statements. The change in unrealized appreciation of Ñxed maturities of continuing operations carried at amortized cost
was a decrease of $48,239,000, an increase of $150,427,000 and a decrease of $557,123,000 for the years ended
December 31, 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively.

(d) The amortized cost and estimated market value of Ñxed maturities were as follows:

December 31

1996 1995

Gross Gross Estimated Gross Gross Estimated
Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market Amortized Unrealized Unrealized Market

Cost Appreciation Depreciation Value Cost Appreciation Depreciation Value

(in thousands) 
Continuing operations

Held-to-maturity Ì Tax exemptÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2,443,595 $ 131,147 $ 1,386 $ 2,573,356 $2,825,686 $ 178,959 $ 959 $3,003,686

Available-for-sale
Tax exemptÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,415,101 210,136 2,681 4,622,556 3,607,925 253,814 1,109 3,860,630

Taxable
U.S. Government and government

agency and authority obligations 1,092,269 5,756 8,345 1,089,680 784,394 32,051 25 816,420
Corporate bondsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 317,735 7,460 1,845 323,350 301,108 17,982 419 318,671
Foreign bondsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,169,238 58,500 11,288 1,216,450 1,316,938 61,750 10,280 1,368,408
Mortgage-backed securities ÏÏÏÏÏ 1,444,506 15,043 11,482 1,448,067 701,299 27,924 535 728,688
Redeemable preferred stocks ÏÏÏÏ 15,000 150 Ì 15,150 25,000 Ì 183 24,817

4,038,748 86,909 32,960 4,092,697 3,128,739 139,707 11,442 3,257,004

Total available-for-sale ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,453,849 297,045 35,641 8,715,253 6,736,664 393,521 12,551 7,117,634

Total Ñxed maturities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $10,897,444 $ 428,192 $ 37,027 $11,288,609 $9,562,350 $ 572,480 $ 13,510 $10,121,320

Discontinued operations
Held-to-maturity ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 381,230 $ 20,022 $ 2,343 $ 398,909 $ 403,539 $ 31,479 $ 46 $434,972
Available-for-saleÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,443,448 71,332 16,499 2,498,281 2,153,936 111,291 9,276 2,255,951

Total Ñxed maturities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 2,824,678 $ 91,354 $ 18,842 $ 2,897,190 $2,557,475 $ 142,770 $ 9,322 $2,690,923

The amortized cost and estimated market value of Ñxed maturities at December 31, 1996 by contractual maturity were
as follows:

Continuing Operations Discontinued Operations

Held-to-Maturity Available-for-Sale Held-to-Maturity Available-for-Sale

Estimated Estimated Estimated Estimated
Amortized Market Amortized Market Amortized Market Amortized Market

Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value Cost Value

(in thousands) (in thousands)

Due in one year or lessÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 105,859 $ 107,145 $ 80,671 $ 81,629 $ 10,026 $ 10,207 $ 10,240 $ 10,266
Due after one year through Ñve yearsÏÏÏ 684,380 720,503 1,306,804 1,330,143 63,785 68,892 257,205 266,921
Due after Ñve years through ten years ÏÏ 924,995 979,145 2,307,112 2,402,009 75,743 81,875 445,479 456,299
Due after ten years ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 728,361 766,563 3,314,756 3,453,405 58,656 65,043 819,276 830,643

2,443,595 2,573,356 7,009,343 7,267,186 208,210 226,017 1,532,200 1,564,129
Mortgage-backed securities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì 1,444,506 1,448,067 173,020 172,892 911,248 934,152

$2,443,595 $2,573,356 $8,453,849 $8,715,253 $381,230 $398,909 $2,443,448 $2,498,281

Actual maturities could diÅer from contractual maturities because borrowers may have the right to call or prepay
obligations.
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(5) Real Estate (6) Deferred Policy Acquisition Costs

In October 1996, the Corporation announced that it
Property and casualty insurance policy acquisition costs

was exploring the possible sale of all or a portion of its real
deferred and the related amortization charged against

estate assets. During February 1997, indications of inter-
income were as follows:

est in purchasing a substantial portion of the commercial
Years Ended December 31properties were received from several parties. In March

1996 1995 19941997, the Corporation announced that it had entered into
(in thousands)an agreement with a prospective purchaser to perform due

Balance, beginning
diligence in anticipation of executing a contract for the of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 558,676 $ 529,453 $ 489,702
sale of these properties. In addition, the Corporation is Costs deferred during year

Commissions andcontinuing to explore the sale of its residential and retail
brokerage ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 653,534 592,687 544,733properties.

Premium taxes and
assessmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 114,666 108,002 108,008Because the plan to pursue the sale of these assets in

Salaries and overhead ÏÏÏÏ 512,290 449,477 428,255the near term represented a change in circumstances
1,280,490 1,150,166 1,080,996relating to the manner in which these assets are expected

Amortization during year ÏÏ (1,237,968) (1,120,943) (1,041,245)
to be used, the recoverability of their carrying value was

Balance, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 601,198 $ 558,676 $ 529,453
reassessed. As a result, an impairment loss of
$255,000,000 was recognized in 1996 to reduce the carry-
ing value of these assets to their estimated fair value. This (7) Property and Equipment
charge is included in real estate cost of sales and expenses
in the consolidated statements of income. Property and equipment of continuing operations in-

cluded in other assets were as follows:The components of real estate assets were as follows:
December 31December 31

1996 19951996 1995
(in thousands)(in thousands)

Mortgages and notes receivable (net of CostÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $363,079 $329,728
allowance for uncollectible amounts of Less accumulated depreciation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 155,502 131,218
$85,669 and $87,617) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 502,374 $ 409,564 $207,577 $198,510

Income producing properties ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 584,496 864,449
Construction in progress ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 135,030 87,870
Land under development and unimproved landÏÏ 382,075 380,697 Depreciation expense related to property and equip-

$1,603,975 $1,742,580 ment from continuing operations was $48,013,000,
$39,412,000 and $32,071,000 for 1996, 1995 and 1994,

Substantially all mortgages and notes receivable are respectively.
secured by buildings and land. The ultimate collectibility
of the receivables is evaluated continuously and an appro-

(8) Debt and Credit Arrangements
priate allowance for uncollectible amounts established.
Mortgages and notes receivable had an aggregate fair (a) Short term debt consists of commercial paper used
value of approximately $487,200,000 and $405,400,000 at to support the real estate operations. The commercial
December 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively. The fair value paper is issued by Chubb Capital Corporation (Chubb
amounts represent point-in-time estimates that are not Capital), a subsidiary of the Corporation, and is guaran-
relevant in predicting future earnings or cash Öows related teed by the Corporation. Borrowings are unsecured and
to such receivables. are on terms and at interest rates generally extended to

Depreciation expense related to income producing prime borrowers. The weighted average interest rate on
properties was $10,978,000, $14,123,000 and $12,086,000 short term debt approximated 5¥% and 5∂% at Decem-
for 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. ber 31, 1996 and 1995, respectively.
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(b) Long term debt consisted of the following: ter. The notes are exchangeable at the option of the holder
into 23.256 shares of common stock of the Corporation forDecember 31

each $1,000 of principal amount, equivalent to a conversion1996 1995

price of $43.00 per share. In 1996, the holders ofCarrying Fair Carrying Fair
Value Value Value Value $20,660,000 of notes elected this option, resulting in the

(in thousands) issuance of 480,464 shares of common stock.

Term loans ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 311,351 $ 313,648 $ 331,023 $ 331,023
The Corporation Ñled a shelf registration statementMortgagesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 189,841 191,630 199,809 200,395

8∂% notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 90,000 93,879 120,000 133,104 which the Securities and Exchange Commission declared
6% notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 150,000 149,685 150,000 151,365 eÅective in June 1995, under which up to $400,000,000 of6∑% notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 100,000 101,010 100,000 105,410

various types of securities may be issued by the Corpora-6% exchangeable
subordinated tion or Chubb Capital. No securities have been issued
notes ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 229,340 278,648 250,000 293,125 under this registration.

$1,070,532 $1,128,500 $1,150,832 $1,214,422

The amounts of long term debt due annually during the
Ñve years subsequent to December 31, 1996 are asThe term loans and mortgages are obligations of the
follows:real estate subsidiaries. The term loans mature in varying

amounts through 2001. Substantially all term loans are at Years Ending Term Loans
December 31 and Mortgages Notes Totalan interest rate equivalent to the lower of the prime rate

(in thousands)or a rate associated with the lender's cost of funds. The
mortgages payable are due in varying amounts monthly 1997 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 78,790 $ 30,000 $108,790
through 2010. At December 31, 1996, the range of 1998 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 49,187 409,340 458,527
interest rates for term loans was 7% to 9¥% and for 1999 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 61,999 30,000 91,999

2000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 114,839 Ì 114,839mortgages payable the range was 5% to 12%. The term
2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 178,890 Ì 178,890loans and mortgages payable are secured by real estate

assets with a net book value of $880,410,000 at Decem-
(c) Interest costs for continuing operations ofber 31, 1996.

$89,482,000, $98,644,000 and $96,488,000 were incurred
The Corporation has outstanding $90,000,000 of in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively, of which

unsecured 8∂% notes due November 15, 1999. The notes $12,764,000, $16,352,000 and $19,407,000  were
are subject to mandatory sinking fund payments in capitalized.
amounts suÇcient to redeem $30,000,000 of principal in
1997 and 1998. The notes are to be redeemed on a pro (d) The Corporation has a revolving credit agreement
rata basis on November 15 of each of these years at a with a group of banks that provides for unsecured borrow-
redemption price of 100% of their principal amount. ings of up to $300,000,000. The agreement terminates on

July 15, 1997 at which time any loans then outstandingChubb Capital has outstanding $150,000,000 of 6%
become payable. Various interest rate options are availa-notes due February 1, 1998 and $100,000,000 of 6∑%
ble to the Corporation, all of which are based on marketnotes due February 1, 2003. These notes are unsecured
rates. The Corporation pays a facility fee of 1/10% perand are guaranteed by the Corporation.
annum. There have been no borrowings under this agree-

Chubb Capital has outstanding in the Eurodollar market ment. The Corporation and its subsidiaries had additional
$229,340,000 of 6% exchangeable subordinated notes due unused lines of credit of approximately $140,000,000 at
May 15, 1998, which are guaranteed by the Corporation. December 31, 1996. These lines of credit generally have
The notes are redeemable, in whole or in part, at the option terms ranging from thirty days to one year and are paid
of Chubb Capital at redemption prices declining from for with a combination of fees and compensating bank
101.7% of the principal amount if redeemed before May 15, balances. Unused credit facilities are available to support
1997 to 100.9% of the principal amount if redeemed thereaf- the commercial paper borrowing arrangement.
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(9) Federal and Foreign Income Tax

(a) Income tax expense for continuing operations consisted of the following components:

Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

(in thousands)
Current tax

United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 152,061 $177,954 $ 88,040
ForeignÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26,243 21,462 31,635

Deferred tax credit, principally United StatesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (117,573) (16,830) (16,287)

$ 60,731 $182,586 $103,388

(b) The provision for federal and foreign income tax gives eÅect to permanent diÅerences between income for
Ñnancial reporting purposes and taxable income. Accordingly, the eÅective income tax rate is less than the statutory
federal corporate tax rate. The reasons for the lower eÅective tax rate were as follows:

Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

% of % of % of
Pre-Tax Pre-Tax Pre-Tax

Amount Income Amount Income Amount Income

(dollars in thousands)

Income from continuing operations before federal and
foreign income tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 546,924 $ 836,998 $ 611,306

Tax at statutory federal income tax rate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 191,423 35.0% $ 292,949 35.0% $ 213,957 35.0%
Tax exempt interest income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (118,961) (21.8) (114,113) (13.6) (108,859) (17.8)
Other, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (11,731) (2.1) 3,750 .4 (1,710) (.3)

Actual tax for continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 60,731 11.1% $ 182,586 21.8% $ 103,388 16.9%

(c) The tax eÅects of temporary diÅerences that gave rise to deferred income tax assets and liabilities were as
follows:

December 31

1996 1995

(in thousands)
Deferred income tax assets

Unpaid claims ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $521,952 $523,535
Unearned premiums ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 142,153 130,226
Postretirement beneÑts ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 52,921 46,851
Other, net ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 25,150 9,567

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 742,176 710,179

Deferred income tax liabilities
Deferred policy acquisition costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 185,805 173,936
Real estate assetsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 45,264 141,771
Unrealized appreciation of investmentsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 128,516 164,326
Tax on the sale of discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 17,000 Ì

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 376,585 480,033

Net deferred income tax asset for continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $365,591 $230,146
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(10) Stock-Based Compensation Plans

(a) In 1996, the Corporation adopted the Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (1996), which succeeded the Long-
Term Stock Incentive Plan (1992). The Long-Term Stock Incentive Plan (1996) provides for the granting of stock
options, performance shares, restricted stock and other stock-based awards to key employees. The maximum number of
shares of the Corporation's common stock in respect to which stock-based awards may be granted under the 1996 plan is
10,230,000 shares plus up to an additional 3,770,000 shares to the extent shares are reacquired by the Corporation
subsequent to December 31, 1996. At December 31, 1996, 10,178,354 shares were available for grant under the 1996
Plan.

Stock options are granted at exercise prices not less than the fair market value of the Corporation's common stock on
the date of grant. The terms and conditions upon which options become exercisable may vary among grants. Options
expire no later than ten years from the date of grant.

Information concerning stock options granted under the Long-Term Stock Incentive Plans and a prior stock option
plan is as follows:

1996 1995 1994

Number Weighted Average Number Weighted Average Number Weighted Average
of Shares Exercise Price of Shares Exercise Price of Shares Exercise Price

Outstanding, beginning of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,565,034 $37.59 5,449,618 $35.11 4,167,516 $32.58
GrantedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,504,048 48.82 1,994,230 41.12 1,509,050 40.97
Exercised ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (782,403) 31.77 (738,332) 28.13 (152,068) 20.62
Forfeited ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (227,850) 43.26 (140,482) 40.93 (74,880) 39.91

Outstanding, end of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,058,829 41.48 6,565,034 37.59 5,449,618 35.11

Exercisable, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 4,852,845 38.10 3,961,586 35.35 3,330,456 31.23

December 31, 1996

Options Outstanding Options Exercisable

Weighted Average
Range of Number Weighted Average Remaining Number Weighted Average

Option Exercise Price Outstanding Exercise Price Contractual Life Exercisable Exercise Price

$14.31 Ó $36.03ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,511,685 $30.51 4.4 years 1,511,685 $30.51
40.97 Ó 55.19ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 6,547,144 44.02 8.1 years 3,341,160 41.53

8,058,829 41.48 7.4 years 4,852,845 38.10

Performance share awards are based on the achievement of various goals over performance cycle periods. The cost of
such awards is expensed over the performance cycle. Such awards are payable in cash, in shares of the Corporation's
common stock or in a combination of both. Restricted stock awards consist of shares of common stock of the Corporation
granted at no cost. Shares of restricted stock become outstanding when granted, receive dividends and have voting rights.
The shares are subject to forfeiture and to restrictions which limit the sale or transfer during the restriction period. An
amount equal to the fair market value of the shares at the date of grant is expensed over the restriction period.

The Corporation uses the intrinsic value based method of accounting for stock-based compensation, under which
compensation cost is measured as the excess, if any, of the quoted market price of the stock at the grant date over the
amount an employee must pay to acquire the stock. Since the exercise price of stock options granted under the Long-
Term Stock Incentive Plans is not less than the market price of the underlying stock on the date of grant, no compensation
cost has been recognized for such grants. The aggregate amount charged against income with respect to performance
share and restricted stock awards was $10,156,000, $8,626,000 and $5,213,000 in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively.

The following pro forma net income and earnings per share information has been determined as if the Corporation
had accounted for stock-based compensation awarded under the Long-Term Stock Incentive Plans using the fair value
based method. Under the fair value method, the estimated fair value of awards would be charged against income on a
straight-line basis over the vesting period. The pro forma eÅect on net income for 1995 and 1996 is not representative of
the pro forma eÅect on net income in future years because, as required by SFAS No. 123, Accounting for Stock Based
Compensation, no consideration has been given to awards granted prior to 1995.

1996 1995

As Pro As Pro
Reported Forma Reported Forma

(in thousands except for earnings per share)

Net Income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $512,684 $496,640 $696,628 $692,360
Earnings Per Share ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2.90 2.81 3.93 3.90
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The weighted average fair value of options granted The number of allocated and unallocated shares held
under the Long-Term Stock Incentive Plans during 1996 by the ESOP at December 31, 1996 were 3,093,619 and
and 1995 were $11.04 and $10.18, respectively. The fair 4,155,844, respectively.
value of each option grant was estimated on the date of

(c) The Corporation has a Stock Purchase Plangrant using the Black-Scholes Model with the following
under which substantially all employees are eligible toweighted average assumptions. The risk-free interest rates
purchase shares of the Corporation's common stock basedfor 1996 and 1995 were 5.9% and 6.3%, respectively. The
on compensation. Shares are purchased at a price not lessexpected volatility of the market price of the Corpora-
than 95% of the fair market value on the date of grant. Attion's common stock for 1996 and 1995 grants was 18.3%
December 31, 1996, there were 566,309 subscribed sharesand 19.3%, respectively. The expected average term of the
at a price of $52.81. The right to purchase such sharesgranted options was 5¥ years and the dividend yield was
expires in December 1998. No compensation cost has2.1% for both years.
been recognized for such rights. Had the fair value
method been used, the cost under this method would have(b) The Corporation has a leveraged Employee
been immaterial.Stock Ownership Plan (ESOP) in which substantially all

employees are eligible to participate. At its inception in
(11) Employee BeneÑts1989, the ESOP used the proceeds of a $150,000,000 loan

from the Corporation to purchase 7,792,204 newly issued
(a) The Corporation and its subsidiaries have sev-shares of the Corporation's common stock. The loan is

eral non-contributory deÑned beneÑt pension plans cover-due in September 2004 and bears interest at 9%. The
ing substantially all employees. The beneÑts are generallyCorporation has recorded the receivable from the ESOP
based on an employee's years of service and averageas a separate reduction of shareholders' equity on the
compensation during the last Ñve years of employment.consolidated balance sheets. This balance is reduced as
Pension costs are determined using the projected unitrepayments are made on the loan principal.
credit method. The Corporation's policy is to make an-

The Corporation and its participating subsidiaries nual contributions that meet the minimum funding re-
make semi-annual contributions to the ESOP in amounts quirements of the Employee Retirement Income Security
determined at the discretion of the Corporation's Board of Act of 1974. Contributions are intended to provide not
Directors. The contributions, together with the dividends only for beneÑts attributed to service to date but also for
on the unallocated shares of common stock in the ESOP, those expected to be earned in the future.
are used by the ESOP to make loan interest and principal
payments to the Corporation. As interest and principal are The components of net pension cost were as follows:
paid, a portion of the common stock is allocated to

Years Ended December 31
eligible employees.

1996 1995 1994

(in thousands)The Corporation uses the cash payment method of
recognizing ESOP expense. In 1996, 1995 and 1994, cash Service cost of current period ÏÏÏ $ 20,633 $ 20,422 $ 19,702

Interest cost on projectedcontributions to the ESOP of $12,707,000, $12,307,000
benefit obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26,022 23,822 21,232and $12,146,000, respectively, were charged against in-

Actual return on plan assets ÏÏÏÏ (49,075) (68,542) (523)come. Dividends on unallocated shares used for debt
Net amortization and deferral ÏÏÏ 17,468 42,730 (23,420)service by the ESOP were $4,571,000, $4,468,000 and

Net pension costÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 15,048 $ 18,432 $ 16,991$4,615,000 in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively.
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The following table sets forth the plans' funded status The Corporation does not fund these beneÑts in ad-
and amounts recognized in the balance sheets: vance. BeneÑts are paid as covered expenses are incurred.

December 31 Health care coverage is contributory. Retiree contribu-
1996 1995 tions vary based upon a retiree's age, type of coverage and
(in thousands) years of service with the Corporation. Life insurance

coverage is non-contributory.Actuarial present value of beneÑt obligation
for service rendered to date:

The components of net postretirement beneÑt cost wereAccumulated beneÑt obligation based on
current salary levels, including vested as follows:
beneÑts of $241,392 and $212,752ÏÏÏÏÏ $253,893 $224,821 Years Ended December 31

Additional amount related to projected
1996 1995 1994future salary increasesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 107,004 131,473

(in thousands)Projected beneÑt obligation for service
rendered to dateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 360,897 356,294 Service cost of current period ÏÏÏÏ $ 6,016 $ 5,687 $ 5,153

Plan assets at fair value ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 406,876 341,112 Interest cost on accumulated
Projected beneÑt obligation in excess of beneÑt obligation ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,601 7,949 7,420

(less than) plan assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (45,979) 15,182
Net postretirement beneÑt cost $14,617 $13,636 $12,573

Unrecognized net gain from past experience
diÅerent from that assumed ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 98,567 36,196

The components of the accumulated postretirementUnrecognized prior service costs ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (4,648) (5,208)
beneÑt obligation were as follows:Unrecognized net asset at January 1, 1985,

being recognized principally over 19 years ÏÏÏ 6,874 8,297 December 31

Pension liability included in other liabilitiesÏÏÏ $ 54,814 $ 54,467 1996 1995

(in thousands)

The weighted average discount rate used in determin- RetireesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 42,770 $ 38,735
ing the actuarial present value of the projected beneÑt Fully eligible active plan participants ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 8,389 5,103
obligation at December 31, 1996 and 1995 was 73/4% and Other active plan participants ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 63,448 74,572

71/2%, respectively, and the rate of increase in future Accumulated postretirement benefit obligation ÏÏ 114,607 118,410
compensation levels was 5% for 1996 and 6% for 1995. Unrecognized net gain (loss) from past

experience diÅerent from that assumed ÏÏÏÏ 13,203 (933)The expected long term rate of return on assets was 9%
for both years. Postretirement beneÑt liability included in

other liabilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $127,810 $117,477
The decrease in net pension cost in 1996 was due

primarily to the reduction, eÅective January 1, 1996, in The weighted average discount rate used in determin-
the assumed rate of increase in future compensation ing the actuarial present value of the accumulated postre-
levels. Such reduction also resulted in a decrease in the tirement beneÑt obligation at December 31, 1996 and
portion of the projected beneÑt obligation related to 1995 was 73/4% and 71/2%, respectively. At December 31,
future salary increases. 1996, the weighted average health care cost trend rate

used to measure the accumulated postretirement cost for
Plan assets are principally invested in publicly traded

medical beneÑts was 11≤% for 1997 and was assumed to
stocks and bonds.

decrease gradually to 6% for the year 2008 and remain at
that level thereafter. The health care cost trend rate(b) The Corporation and its subsidiaries have a sav-
assumption has a signiÑcant eÅect on the amount of theings plan, the Capital Accumulation Plan, in which sub-
accumulated postretirement beneÑt obligation and the netstantially all employees are eligible to participate. Under
postretirement beneÑt cost reported. To illustrate, a onethis plan, the employer makes a matching contribution
percent increase in the trend rate for each year wouldequal to 100% of each eligible employee's pre-tax elective
increase the accumulated postretirement beneÑt obliga-contributions, up to 4% of the employee's compensation.
tion at December 31, 1996 by $19,040,000 and the aggre-Contributions are invested at the election of the employee
gate of the service and interest cost components of netin the Corporation's common stock or in various other in-
postretirement beneÑt cost for the year endedvestment funds. Employer contributions of $14,519,000,
December 31, 1996 by $2,834,000.$13,443,000 and $13,026,000 were charged against in-

come in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively.

(c) The Corporation and its subsidiaries provide certain
other postretirement benefits, principally health care and life
insurance, to retired employees and their beneficiaries and
covered dependents. Substantially all employees may be-
come eligible for these benefits upon retirement if they meet
minimum age and years of service requirements.
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(12) Leases The Royal & Sun Alliance Insurance Group plc is the
beneÑcial owner of 5.2% of the Corporation's commonThe Corporation and its subsidiaries occupy oÇce facil-
stock. A property and casualty insurance subsidiary of theities under lease agreements which expire at various dates
Corporation has assumed on a quota share basis a portionthrough 2019; such leases are generally renewed or
of the property and casualty insurance business written byreplaced by other leases. In addition, the Corporation's
certain subsidiaries of Royal & Sun Alliance. The as-subsidiaries lease data processing, oÇce and transporta-
sumed reinsurance premiums earned of the property andtion equipment.
casualty insurance subsidiaries include $282,905,000,Most leases contain renewal options for increments
$340,767,000 and $264,343,000 in 1996, 1995 and 1994,ranging from two to ten years; certain lease agreements
respectively, from such business.provide for rent increases based on price-level factors. All

leases are operating leases. A portion of the U.S. insurance business written by the
Corporation's property and casualty insurance subsidiariesRent expense for continuing operations was as follows:
has been reinsured on a quota share basis with a subsidi-

Years Ended
ary of Royal & Sun Alliance. The ceded reinsuranceDecember 31
premiums earned of the property and casualty insurance1996 1995 1994

subsidiaries include $348,024,000, $520,528,000 and(in thousands)

$489,727,000 in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively, from
OÇce facilities ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $67,587 $66,996 $66,188

such reinsurance.EquipmentÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11,823 12,788 14,632

$79,410 $79,784 $80,820 Reinsurance recoveries by the property and casualty
insurance subsidiaries which have been deducted from

At December 31, 1996, future minimum rental pay- insurance claims were $651,889,000, $936,080,000 and
ments required under non-cancellable operating leases of $962,332,000 in 1996, 1995 and 1994, respectively. Such
continuing operations were as follows:

amounts included recoveries of $251,361,000,
Years Ending $333,759,000 and $337,077,000 in 1996, 1995 and 1994,December 31 (in thousands)

respectively, from the subsidiary of Royal & Sun Alliance.1997 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 68,957
1998 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 67,417 Reinsurance recoverable on property and casualty un-
1999 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 65,283

paid claims included approximately $471,000,000 and2000 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 62,614
2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 55,752 $681,000,000 at December 31, 1996 and 1995, respec-
After 2001 ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 328,366

tively, from the subsidiary of Royal & Sun Alliance.
$648,389

EÅective January 1, 1997, the reinsurance agreements
with Royal & Sun Alliance have been terminated.(13) Reinsurance

The property and casualty insurance subsidiaries of thePremiums earned and claims incurred are reported net
Corporation entered into a stop loss reinsurance agree-of reinsurance in the consolidated statements of income.
ment with a subsidiary of Royal & Sun Alliance, eÅective

The effect of reinsurance on the premiums earned of the year end 1985, relating to medical malpractice unpaid
property and casualty insurance subsidiaries was as follows:

claims. On December 31, 1995, the property and casualty
Years Ended December 31 insurance subsidiaries exercised a commutation provision

1996 1995 1994
under this agreement, which resulted in an amount due

(in thousands)
from the Royal & Sun Alliance subsidiary of

Direct ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,023,489 $ 4,754,423 $ 4,415,080 $191,194,000. The amount due was received in January
Reinsurance assumed ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 533,002 712,080 641,615 1996.
Reinsurance cededÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (987,235) (1,319,341) (1,280,412)

Premiums earnedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,569,256 $ 4,147,162 $ 3,776,283
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(14) Unpaid Claims PaciÑc Indemnity, Continental Casualty and
Fibreboard entered into a trilateral agreement to settle allThe process of establishing loss reserves is an imprecise
present and future asbestos-related bodily injury claimsscience and reÖects signiÑcant judgmental factors. In
resulting from insurance policies that were, or may havemany liability cases, signiÑcant periods of time, ranging
been, issued to Fibreboard by the two insurers. Theup to several years or more, may elapse between the
trilateral agreement will be triggered if the global settle-occurrence of an insured loss, the reporting of the loss and
ment agreement is disapproved by the United Statesthe settlement of the loss.
Supreme Court. PaciÑc Indemnity's obligation under the

Judicial decisions and legislative actions continue to trilateral agreement is therefore similar to, and not dupli-
broaden liability and policy deÑnitions and to increase the cative of, that under those agreements described above.
severity of claim payments. As a result of this and other

The trilateral agreement reaÇrms portions of an agree-societal and economic developments, the uncertainties
ment reached in March 1992 between PaciÑc Indemnityinherent in estimating ultimate claim costs on the basis of
and Fibreboard. Among other matters, that 1992 agree-past experience have increased signiÑcantly, further com-
ment eliminates any PaciÑc Indemnity liability toplicating the already complex loss reserving process.
Fibreboard for asbestos-related property damage claims.

The uncertainties relating to asbestos and toxic waste
In 1995, the United States District Court of the East-

claims on insurance policies written many years ago are
ern District of Texas approved the global settlement

exacerbated by judicial and legislative interpretations of
agreement and the trilateral agreement. The judgments

coverage that in some cases have tended to erode the
approving these agreements were appealed to the United

clear and express intent of such policies and in others
States Court of Appeals for the Fifth Circuit. In July

have expanded theories of liability. The industry is en-
1996, the Fifth Circuit Court aÇrmed the 1995 judg-

gaged in extensive litigation over these coverage and
ments of the District Court. The aÇrmation of these

liability issues and is thus confronted with a continuing
agreements had no eÅect on the amount of loss reserves

uncertainty in its eÅort to quantify these exposures.
provided for the settlement. A petition for re-hearing the

In 1993, PaciÑc Indemnity Company, a subsidiary of global settlement agreement before the entire Fifth Cir-
the Corporation, entered into a global settlement agree- cuit Court was denied. An appeal to the United States
ment with Continental Casualty Company (a subsidiary Supreme Court by the objectors to the global settlement
of CNA Financial Corporation), Fibreboard Corporation, has been Ñled and the Supreme Court will decide whether
and attorneys representing claimants against Fibreboard to hear this matter. The trilateral agreement, however,
for all future asbestos-related bodily injury claims against was not appealed to the United States Supreme Court
Fibreboard. This agreement is subject to Ñnal appellate and is now Ñnal. As a result, management believes that
court approval. Pursuant to the global settlement agree- the uncertainty of PaciÑc Indemnity's exposure with re-
ment, a $1,525,000,000 trust fund will be established to spect to asbestos-related bodily injury claims against
pay future claims, which are claims that were not Ñled in Fibreboard has been eliminated.
court before August 27, 1993. PaciÑc Indemnity will

Since 1993, a California Court of Appeal has agreed, in
contribute $538,172,000 to the trust fund and Continental

response to a request by Pacific Indemnity, ContinentalCasualty will contribute the remaining amount. In De-
Casualty and Fibreboard, to delay its decisions regardingcember 1993, upon execution of the global settlement
asbestos-related insurance coverage issues which are cur-agreement, PaciÑc Indemnity and Continental Casualty
rently before it and involve the three parties exclusively,paid their respective shares into an escrow account.
while the approval of the global settlement is pending inPaciÑc Indemnity's share is included in funds held for
court. Continental Casualty and Pacific Indemnity haveasbestos-related settlement. Upon Ñnal court approval of
dismissed disputes against each other which involvedthe settlement, the amount in the escrow account, includ-

ing interest earned thereon, will be transferred to the trust Fibreboard and were in litigation.
fund. All of the parties have agreed to use their best The property and casualty insurance subsidiaries have
eÅorts to seek Ñnal court approval of the global settlement additional potential asbestos exposure on insureds for
agreement. which excess liability coverages were written. Such expo-

PaciÑc Indemnity and Continental Casualty reached a sure has increased due to the erosion of much of the
separate agreement for the handling of all asbestos-re- underlying limits. The number of claims against such
lated bodily injury claims pending on August 26, 1993 insureds and the value of such claims have increased in
against Fibreboard.  PaciÑc Indemnity's obligation under recent years due in part to the non-viability of other
this agreement with respect to such pending claims is defendants.
approximately $635,000,000, the Ñnal $450,000,000 of
which was paid during 1996. Assets designated as funds
held for asbestos-related settlement were used to pay this
obligation. The agreement further provides that the total
responsibility of both insurers with respect to pending and
future asbestos-related bodily injury claims against
Fibreboard will be shared between PaciÑc Indemnity and
Continental Casualty on an approximate 35% and 65%
basis, respectively.
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Other remaining asbestos exposures are mostly periph- insurance policy. In addition, incurred but not reported
eral defendants, including a mix of manufacturers and reserves have been established to cover additional expo-
distributors of certain products that contain asbestos as sures on both known and unasserted claims. These
well as premises owners. Generally, these insureds are reserves are continually reviewed and updated.
named defendants on a regional rather than a nationwide

A reconciliation of the beginning and ending liabilitybasis. Notices of new asbestos claims and new exposures
for unpaid claims, net of reinsurance recoverable, and aon existing claims continue to be received as more periph-
reconciliation of the net liability to the correspondingeral parties are drawn into litigation to replace the now
liability on a gross basis is as follows:

defunct mines and bankrupt manufacturers.
1996 1995 1994

The courts have been engaged in developing guidelines
(in thousands)

regarding coverage for asbestos claims and have begun to
Gross liability, beginning of yearÏÏ $9,588,141 $8,913,220 $8,235,442

articulate more consistent standards regarding the extent Reinsurance recoverable,
beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,973,666 1,980,340 1,785,396of the obligation of insurers to provide coverage and the

Net liability, beginning of year ÏÏ 7,614,475 6,932,880 6,450,046method of allocation of costs among insurers. However,
Net incurred claims and claimthe universe of potential claims is still unknown. There-

expenses related tofore, uncertainty remains as to the property and casualty
Current year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,053,600 2,705,800 2,549,100

insurance subsidiaries' ultimate liability for asbestos-re- Prior years ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (42,845) (35,819) (29,741)
lated claims. 3,010,755 2,669,981 2,519,359

Net payments for claims andHazardous waste sites are another significant potential claim expenses related to
exposure. Under the federal ""Superfund'' law and similar Current year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 980,006 737,686 764,525

Prior years ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,889,400 1,250,700 1,272,000state statutes, when potentially responsible parties (PRPs)
2,869,406 1,988,386 2,036,525fail to handle the clean-up, regulators have the work done

Net liability, end of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏ 7,755,824 7,614,475 6,932,880and then attempt to establish legal liability against the
Reinsurance recoverable,

PRPs. The PRPs disposed of toxic materials at a waste end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,767,885 1,973,666 1,980,340
dump site or transported the materials to the site. Insurance
policies issued to PRPs were not intended to cover the

Gross liability, end of year ÏÏÏÏ $9,523,709 $9,588,141 $8,913,220
clean-up costs of pollution and, in many cases, did not
intend to cover the pollution itself. As the cost of environ-

During 1996, the property and casualty insurance sub-mental clean-up continues to grow, PRPs and others have
sidiaries experienced overall favorable development of

increasingly filed claims with their insurance carriers. Litiga- $42,845,000 on net unpaid claims established as of the
tion against insurers extends to issues of liability, coverage previous year-end. This compares with favorable develop-
and other policy provisions. There is great uncertainty in- ment of $35,819,000 and $29,741,000 in 1995 and 1994,
volved in estimating the property and casualty insurance respectively. Such redundancies were reÖected in operat-
subsidiaries' liabilities related to these claims. First, the ing results in these respective years. Each of the past

three years beneÑted from favorable claim severity trendsunderlying liabilities of the claimants are extremely difficult
for certain liability classes; this was oÅset each year into estimate. At any given clean-up site, the allocation of
varying degrees by increases in unpaid claims relating toremediation costs among governmental authorities and the
asbestos and toxic waste claims.PRPs varies greatly. Second, different courts have addressed

liability and coverage issues regarding pollution claims and
Management believes that the aggregate loss reserveshave reached inconsistent conclusions in their interpretation

of the property and casualty insurance subsidiaries atof several issues. These significant uncertainties are not
December 31, 1996 were adequate to cover claims forlikely to be resolved in the near future.
losses which had occurred, including both those known
and those yet to be reported. In establishing such reserves,Uncertainties also remain as to the Superfund law
management considers facts currently known and the

itself. Superfund's taxing authority expired on Decem- present state of the law and coverage litigation. However,
ber 31, 1995. It is currently not possible to predict the given the expansion of coverage and liability by the courts
direction that any reforms may take, when they may and the legislatures in the past and the possibilities of
occur or the eÅect that any changes may have on the similar interpretations in the future, particularly as they
insurance industry. relate to asbestos and toxic waste claims, as well as the

uncertainty in determining what scientiÑc standards will
Reserves for asbestos and toxic waste claims cannot be be deemed acceptable for measuring hazardous waste site

estimated with traditional loss reserving techniques. Case clean-up, additional increases in loss reserves may emerge
reserves and expense reserves for costs of related litigation which would adversely aÅect results in future periods.
have been established where suÇcient information has The amount cannot reasonably be estimated at the pre-
been developed to indicate the involvement of a speciÑc sent time.
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(15) Business Segments

The property and casualty insurance subsidiaries underwrite most forms of property and casualty insurance in the
United States, Canada, Europe, Australia and the Far East. The geographic distribution of property and casualty business
in the United States is broad with a particularly strong market presence in the Northeast.

The real estate subsidiary has been involved in commercial development activities primarily in New Jersey with
additional operations in several other states as well as residential development activities in central Florida and northern
New Jersey.

Revenues, income from continuing operations before income tax and identiÑable assets of each industry segment
were as follows:

Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

Revenues (in thousands)
Property and Casualty Insurance

Premiums earned ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,569,256 $ 4,147,162 $ 3,776,283
Investment income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 656,135 613,242 570,531

Real Estate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 319,787 287,795 204,849

5,545,178 5,048,199 4,551,663
Corporate investment income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 55,425 54,445 49,405
Realized investment gains (losses)

Property and Casualty Insurance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 65,275 95,030 55,203
CorporateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,654 13,822 (1,078)

Total revenuesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,680,532 $ 5,211,496 $ 4,655,193

Income (loss) from continuing operations before income tax
Property and Casualty Insurance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 676,398 $ 697,141 $ 552,170
Real Estate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (235,855) 7,696 (5,950)

440,543 704,837 546,220
CorporateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26,452 23,309 10,961
Realized investment gains (losses)

Property and Casualty Insurance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 65,275 95,030 55,203
CorporateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 14,654 13,822 (1,078)

Income from continuing operations before federal and foreign income tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 546,924 $ 836,998 $ 611,306

December 31

1996 1995 1994

(in thousands)
IdentiÑable assets

Property and Casualty Insurance ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $16,577,935 $16,157,688 $14,435,933
Real Estate ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,641,231 1,842,831 1,796,706

Total identiÑable assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 18,219,166 18,000,519 16,232,639
CorporateÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 959,953 959,384 945,397
Adjustments and eliminations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (83,661) (168,271) (148,877)
Net assets of discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 843,408 844,645 731,810

Total assets ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $19,938,866 $19,636,277 $17,760,969

The following additional information is with respect to the more signiÑcant groupings of classes of business for the
property and casualty operations:

Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

(in thousands)
Premiums earned

Personal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 969,710 $ 847,474 $ 826,068
Commercial ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 3,315,526 2,952,751 2,677,914
Reinsurance AssumedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 284,020 346,937 272,301

Total premiums earned ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $4,569,256 $4,147,162 $3,776,283

Income (loss) from operations before income tax
Personal ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 67,244 $ 97,301 $ (3,247)
Commercial ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (18,162) (6,957) (3,546)
Reinsurance AssumedÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (18,740) 3,810 (1,518)

Underwriting income (loss) ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30,342 94,154 (8,311)
Net investment incomeÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 646,056 602,987 560,481

Income from operations before income tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 676,398 $ 697,141 $ 552,170
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The premiums earned and underwriting income or loss by groupings of classes of business for prior years include
certain reclassiÑcations to conform with the 1996 presentation, which more closely reÖects the way the property and
casualty business is now managed.

The underwriting income or loss by class of business reÖects allocations of certain signiÑcant underwriting expenses
using allocation methods deemed reasonable. Other acceptable allocation methods could produce diÅerent results by
groupings of classes of business. Property and casualty assets are available for payment of claims and expenses for all
classes of business; therefore, such assets and the related investment income have not been identiÑed with speciÑc
groupings of classes of business.

(16) International Operations

The international business of the property and casualty insurance segment is conducted through subsidiaries that
operate solely outside of the United States and branch oÇces of domestic subsidiaries. The assets and liabilities related to
such operations are located primarily in the countries in which the insurance risks are written. International business has
also been obtained from treaty reinsurance assumed, principally from Royal & Sun Alliance.

Shown below is a summary of revenues, income from operations before income tax and identiÑable assets of the
property and casualty insurance subsidiaries by geographic area.

Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

(in thousands)
Revenues

United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 4,145,638 $ 3,715,023 $ 3,508,243
InternationalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,079,753 1,045,381 838,571

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 5,225,391 $ 4,760,404 $ 4,346,814

Income from operations before income tax
United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 571,575 $ 592,684 $ 479,153
InternationalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 104,823 104,457 73,017

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 676,398 $ 697,141 $ 552,170

December 31

1996 1995 1994

(in thousands)
IdentiÑable assets

United States ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $14,573,417 $14,055,334 $12,937,447
InternationalÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 2,004,518 2,102,354 1,498,486

Total ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $16,577,935 $16,157,688 $14,435,933

Foreign currency translation gains or losses credited or charged directly to the separate component of shareholders'
equity were as follows:

Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

(in thousands)

Gains (losses) on translation of foreign currenciesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $(15,129) $(15,931) $14,517
Income tax (credit)

Current ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (3,822) (5,994) 4,633
DeferredÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 938 3,262 445

$(12,245) $(13,199) $ 9,439
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(17) Shareholders' Equity

(a) The authorized but unissued preferred shares may be issued in one or more series and the shares of each series
shall have such rights as Ñxed by the Board of Directors.

(b) On March 1, 1996, the Board of Directors approved an increase in the number of authorized shares of common
stock of the Corporation from 300,000,000 shares to 600,000,000 shares. At the same time, the Board of Directors
approved a two-for-one stock split payable to shareholders of record as of April 19, 1996.

The activity of the Corporation's common stock was as follows:
Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

(number of shares)
Common stock issued

Balance, beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 87,819,355 87,798,286 87,709,465
Two-for-one stock split ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 87,819,355 Ì Ì
Shares issued upon exchange of long term debt ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 480,464 Ì Ì
Share activity under option and incentive plansÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (35,001) 21,069 88,821

Balance, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 176,084,173 87,819,355 87,798,286

Treasury stock
Balance, beginning of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 518,468 977,580 Ì
Two-for-one stock split ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 518,468 Ì Ì
Repurchase of sharesÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,700,000 Ì 1,001,500
Share activity under option and incentive plansÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ (1,513,754) (459,112) Ì
Shares issued Ì other ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ Ì Ì (23,920)

Balance, end of year ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,223,182 518,468 977,580

Common stock outstanding, end of yearÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 174,860,991 87,300,887 86,820,706

(c) The Corporation has a Shareholder Rights Plan under which each shareholder has one-quarter of a right for
each share of common stock of the Corporation held. Each right entitles the holder to purchase from the Corporation one
one-hundredth of a share of Series A Participating Cumulative Preferred Stock at an exercise price of $225. The rights
attach to all outstanding shares of common stock and trade with the common stock until the rights become exercisable.
The rights are subject to adjustment to prevent dilution of the interests represented by each right.

The rights will become exercisable and will detach from the common stock ten days after a person or group either
acquires 25% or more of the outstanding shares of the Corporation's common stock or announces a tender or exchange
oÅer which, if consummated, would result in that person or group owning 25% or more of the outstanding shares of the
Corporation's common stock.

In the event that any person or group acquires 25% or more of the outstanding shares of the Corporation's common
stock, each right will entitle the holder, other than such person or group, to purchase that number of shares of the
Corporation's common stock having a market value of two times the exercise price of the right. In the event that,
following the acquisition of 25% or more of the Corporation's outstanding common stock by a person or group, the
Corporation is acquired in a merger or other business combination transaction or 50% or more of the Corporation's assets
or earning power is sold, each right will entitle the holder to purchase common stock of the acquiring company having a
value equal to two times the exercise price of the right.

The rights do not have the right to vote or to receive dividends. The rights may be redeemed in whole, but not in part,
at a price of $.01 per right by the Corporation at any time until the tenth day after the acquisition of 25% or more of the
Corporation's outstanding common stock by a person or group. The rights will expire at the close of business on
June 12, 1999, unless previously redeemed by the Corporation.
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(d) The Corporation's insurance subsidiaries are required to Ñle annual statements with insurance regulatory
authorities prepared on an accounting basis prescribed or permitted by such authorities (statutory basis). For such
subsidiaries, generally accepted accounting principles (GAAP) diÅer in certain respects from statutory accounting
practices.

A comparison of shareholders' equity on a GAAP basis and policyholders' surplus on a statutory basis is as follows:

December 31

1996 1995

GAAP Statutory GAAP Statutory

(in thousands)
Property and casualty insurance subsidiaries* ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $3,788,655 $2,514,203 $3,617,144 $2,314,720
Discontinued life and health insurance operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 843,408 328,327 844,645 317,624

4,632,063 $2,842,530 4,461,789 $2,632,344

Corporate and eliminationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 830,811 800,940

$5,462,874 $5,262,729

A comparison of GAAP and statutory net income (loss) is as follows:

Years Ended December 31

1996 1995 1994

GAAP Statutory GAAP Statutory GAAP Statutory

(in thousands)
Property and casualty insurance subsidiaries*ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $453,300 $560,193 $640,834 $571,199 $506,825 $468,861
Discontinued life and health insurance operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 26,491** 33,988 42,216 26,828 20,551 (4,264)

479,791 $594,181 683,050 $598,027 527,376 $464,597

Corporate and eliminations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32,893 13,578 1,093

$512,684 $696,628 $528,469

* A property and casualty subsidiary owns the real estate subsidiaries.

** Includes the $22,000,000 after tax loss on disposal.

(e) The Corporation's ability to continue to pay dividends to shareholders and interest on debt obligations is aÅected
by the availability of liquid assets held by the Corporation and by the dividend paying ability of its property and casualty
insurance subsidiaries. Various state insurance laws restrict the Corporation's property and casualty insurance subsidiaries
as to the amount of dividends they may pay to the Corporation without the prior approval of regulatory authorities. The
restrictions are generally based on net income and on certain levels of policyholders' surplus as determined in accordance
with statutory accounting practices. Dividends in excess of such thresholds are considered ""extraordinary'' and require
prior regulatory approval. During 1996, these subsidiaries paid dividends to the Corporation totaling $250,000,000.

The maximum dividend distribution that may be made by the property and casualty insurance subsidiaries to the
Corporation during 1997 without prior approval is approximately $438,000,000.
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Report of Independent Auditors

ERNST & YOUNG LLP
787 Seventh Avenue
New York, New York 10019

The Board of Directors and Shareholders
The Chubb Corporation

We have audited the accompanying consolidated balance sheets of The Chubb Corporation as of December 31, 1996
and 1995, and the related consolidated statements of income, shareholders' equity and cash Öows for each of the three
years in the period ended December 31, 1996. These Ñnancial statements are the responsibility of the Corporation's
management. Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these Ñnancial statements based on our audits.

We conducted our audits in accordance with generally accepted auditing standards. Those standards require that we
plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the Ñnancial statements are free of material
misstatement. An audit includes examining, on a test basis, evidence supporting the amounts and disclosures in the
Ñnancial statements. An audit also includes assessing the accounting principles used and signiÑcant estimates made by
management, as well as evaluating the overall Ñnancial statement presentation. We believe that our audits provide a
reasonable basis for our opinion.

In our opinion, the Ñnancial statements referred to above present fairly, in all material respects, the consolidated
Ñnancial position of The Chubb Corporation at December 31, 1996 and 1995 and the consolidated results of its operations
and its cash Öows for each of the three years in the period ended December 31, 1996 in conformity with generally
accepted accounting principles.

As described in Notes (1)(g) and (2) to the Ñnancial statements, The Chubb Corporation changed its methods of
accounting for impairment of long-lived assets in 1996 and for investments in certain debt and equity securities in 1994.

March 5, 1997

65



Quarterly Financial Data

Summarized unaudited quarterly Ñnancial data for 1996 and 1995 are shown below. In management's opinion, the
interim Ñnancial data contain all adjustments, consisting of normal recurring items, necessary to present fairly the results
of operations for the interim periods.

Three Months Ended

March 31 June 30 September 30 December 31

1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995 1996 1995

(in millions except per share data)

Revenues ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $1,481.6 $1,226.0 $1,382.0 $1,299.4 $1,357.0 $1,325.7 $1,459.9 $1,360.4
Claims and expenses ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 1,311.2 1,051.9 1,174.3 1,080.2 1,168.3 1,124.6 1,479.8 1,117.8
Federal and foreign income tax (credit)ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 30.0 34.0 42.9 48.5 34.4 43.1 (46.6) 57.0

Income from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 140.4 140.1 164.8 170.7 154.3 158.0 26.7 185.6
Income (loss) from discontinued operations, net of

tax ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 11.0 6.6 9.5 14.3 10.9 13.4 (4.9) 7.9

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ 151.4 $ 146.7 $ 174.3 $ 185.0 $ 165.2 $ 171.4 $ 21.8 $ 193.5

Per share data
Income from continuing operations ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ .79 $ .79 $ .93 $ .96 $ .87 $ .90 $ .16 $ 1.05
Income (loss) from discontinued operationsÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ .06 .04 .05 .08 .06 .07 (.02) .04

Net income ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $ .85 $ .83 $ .98 $ 1.04 $ .93 $ .97 $ .14 $ 1.09

Underwriting ratios
Losses to premiums earned ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 68.8% 63.3% 64.3% 64.5% 65.4% 65.4% 66.4% 65.5%
Expenses to premiums written ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 32.5 33.0 32.0 31.9 31.8 31.5 32.0 32.1

Combined ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 101.3% 96.3% 96.3% 96.4% 97.2% 96.9% 98.4% 97.6%

In February 1997, the Corporation entered into a deÑnitive agreement to sell its life and health insurance operations.
As a result, these operations have been classiÑed as discontinued operations. Loss from discontinued operations for the
fourth quarter of 1996 reÖects a charge of $22.0 million or $.12 per share for the after-tax loss on the sale.

Claims and expenses for the fourth quarter of 1996 include a $255.0 million write-down of the carrying value of
certain real estate assets to their estimated fair value. Income from continuing operations for the quarter has been reduced
by a charge of $160.0 million or $.89 per share for the after-tax eÅect of the write-down.

Per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reÖect the two-for-one stock split eÅective April 19, 1996.
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Common Stock Data

The common stock of the Corporation is listed and principally traded on the New York Stock Exchange (NYSE).
The following are the high and low closing sale prices as reported on the NYSE Composite Tape and the quarterly
dividends declared for each quarter of 1996 and 1995.

1996

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Common stock prices

HighÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $52.13 $49.88 $50.00 $55.50

Low ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 46.94 44.13 41.38 45.50

Dividends declaredÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ .27 .27 .27 .27

1995

First Second Third Fourth
Quarter Quarter Quarter Quarter

Common stock prices

HighÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ $40.50 $42.56 $48.44 $50.25

Low ÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ 38.25 38.75 39.13 45.06

Dividends declaredÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏÏ .24¥ .24¥ .24¥ .24¥

The per share amounts have been retroactively adjusted to reÖect the two-for-one stock split eÅective April 19, 1996.

At March 1, 1997, there were approximately 8,425 common shareholders of record.
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ROBERT W. BOND JOANNE F. MEISLER ROBERT R. MARTIE

President JOHN H. COLLINS
WILLIAM MINK

DIANA E. FAINBERG Vice Presidents and AssociateDONN H. NORTON
EDWARD OLIUJAMES E. KEARNEY General Counsels
ANN RODGERSExecutive Vice President SAMUEL G. KETIVE JOELLE HALPERIN

ANDREW A. MCELWEE, JR. JAMES S. SERVIDEAMARC L. RIPPSenior Vice President and ADRIAN P. SLOOTMAKER
Treasurer Vice Presidents ANTHONY UANINO
ERIC H. GROSSEIBL ILAN HERMAN KIRBY WHITE

Chubb Life Insurance Company of America
OÇcers

Chairman Senior Vice President and Vice Presidents DONNA L. METCALF

Group ActuaryDEAN R. O'HARE THOMAS M. BODROGI THOMAS E. MURPHY, JR., M.D.
VINCENT G. MACE, JR. MARK CONNOLLY KENNETH L. ROBINSON, JR.

President
RONALD H. EMERY JAMES M. SANDELLISenior Vice PresidentsTHERESA M. STONE
NED I. GERSTMAN WILLIAM A. SPENCER

RONALD R. ANGARELLA
DONALD M. KANE WILLIAM H. TATEVice Chairman MICHAEL O'REILLY
PATRICK A. LANG JOHN A. THOMASDAVID S. FOWLER WARREN L. REYNOLDS
DEBORAH A. LEITCH ERNEST J. TSOUROS

PAUL J. STRONGExecutive Vice Presidents SANDRA M. MACINTYRE DAVID G. UNDERWOOD, M.D.
CHARLES C. CORNELIO Vice President and EDWARD C. MACKENZIE JOHN W. WELLS
RICHARD V. WERNER Corporate Actuary JUSTIN J. MANJORIN

Vice President andARTHUR V. ANDERSONSenior Vice President, Counsel
General Counsel and Vice President and J. MICHAEL GANNON
Secretary Treasurer
FREDERICK H. CONDON RUSSELL C. SIMPSON
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Subsidiaries AÇliates

Property and Casualty Insurance ASSOCIATED AVIATION UNDERWRITERS, INC.

CHUBB INSURANCE COMPANY (THAILAND), LIMITEDFEDERAL INSURANCE COMPANY

VIGILANT INSURANCE COMPANY
Dividend Agent, Transfer Agent and Registrar

GREAT NORTHERN INSURANCE COMPANY

FIRST CHICAGO TRUST COMPANY OF NEW YORKPACIFIC INDEMNITY COMPANY

P.O. BOX 2500NORTHWESTERN PACIFIC INDEMNITY COMPANY

JERSEY CITY, NJ 07303-2500TEXAS PACIFIC INDEMNITY COMPANY

TELEPHONE 800-317-4445CHUBB CUSTOM INSURANCE COMPANY

COMPANY CODE 1816CHUBB INDEMNITY INSURANCE COMPANY

CHUBB INSURANCE COMPANY OF NEW JERSEY
Stock Listing

CHUBB NATIONAL INSURANCE COMPANY

THE COMMON STOCK OF THE CORPORATIONCHUBB ATLANTIC INDEMNITY, LTD.
IS TRADED ON THE NEW YORK STOCK EXCHANGECHUBB INSURANCE COMPANY OF AUSTRALIA, LIMITED

UNDER THE SYMBOL CB.CHUBB INSURANCE COMPANY OF CANADA

CHUBB INSURANCE COMPANY OF EUROPE, S.A.
The Chubb Corporation

CHUBB ARGENTINA DE SEGUROS, S.A.
15 MOUNTAIN VIEW ROAD, P.O. BOX 1615

CHUBB DO BRASIL COMPANHIA DE SEGUROS
WARREN, NJ 07061-1615

CHUBB DE COLOMBIA COMPA ¿Nπ A DE SEGUROS S.A.
TELEPHONE (908) 903-2000

CHUBB DE CHILE COMPA ¿Nπ A DE SEGUROS GENERALES S.A.
http://www.chubb.com

CHUBB DE MEXICO, COMPANIA AFIANZADORA, S.A. DE S.V.

CHUBB DE MEXICO, COMPANIA DE SEGUROS, S.A. DE S.V.

Property and Casualty Insurance Underwriting Managers

CHUBB & SON INC.

CHUBB CUSTOM MARKET, INC.

Consulting Ì Claims Administration Ì Services

CHUBB CUSTOMER CENTER, INC.

CHUBB SERVICES CORPORATION

Life and Health Insurance

CHUBB LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY OF AMERICA

CHUBB COLONIAL LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

CHUBB SOVEREIGN LIFE INSURANCE COMPANY

Insurance Agency

PERSONAL LINES INSURANCE BROKERAGE, INC.

Real Estate

BELLEMEAD DEVELOPMENT CORPORATION

Financing

CHUBB CAPITAL CORPORATION

Registered Investment Adviser

CHUBB ASSET MANAGERS, INC.

Registered Broker - Dealer

CHUBB SECURITIES CORPORATION

Education

CHUBB COMPUTER SERVICES, INC.

CHUBB PROFESSIONAL RESOURCES, INC.



The Chubb Corporation
15 Mountain View Road, P.O. Box 1615
Warren, New Jersey 07061-1615
http://www.chubb.com
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